Public Document Pack

Wednesday,
9 December 2020
10.00 am
Meeting of
Cheshire Fire Authority
Remote Meeting
Via Skype
Contact Officer:
Donna Linton
Democratic Services
Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service, Sadler Road, Winsford, Cheshire, CW7 2FQ
Tel: 01606 868804
E-mail: donna.linton@cheshirefire.gov.uk

Cheshire Fire Authority
Notes for Members of the Public
____________________________________________________________________________
Attendance at Meetings
The Cheshire Fire Authority welcomes and encourages members of the public to be at its
meetings and Committees.
This meeting of the Fire Authority will be held by remote means, i.e. the meeting will not be
taking place in person at Sadler Road, but will be hosted over the Internet, using Skype for
Business, with participants located in a variety of places.
The Government introduced legislation, due to the Coronavirus pandemic, that enables remote
meetings to take place and the Fire Authority has adopted rules that allow and govern the way
that remote meetings will work. The rules can be accessed here.
The meeting must be open to the public and press. However, as the public and press cannot
attend in person the Fire Authority is arranging for the meeting to be broadcast. Final details
about how to access the broadcast will be published on the website prior to the meeting.
__________________________________________________________________
Questions by Electors
Given the current situation, questions for the Chair of the Fire Authority can be submitted by
email to DemocraticServices@Cheshirefire.gov.uk. Questions must be received at least five
clear working days before the meeting takes place.
Access to Information
Copies of the Agenda are available on the Service’s website (www.cheshirefire.gov.uk). A copy
can also be obtained from Democratic Services via DemocraticServices@cheshirefire.gov.uk.
The Agenda is usually divided into two parts. Members of the public are allowed to stay for the
first part. When the Authority is ready to deal with the second part you will be asked to leave
the remote meeting, because the business to be discussed will be of a confidential nature, for
example, dealing with individual people and contracts.
This agenda is available in large print, Braille, audio CD or in community languages upon
request by contacting; Telephone: 01606868414 or email: equalities@cheshirefire.gov.uk
Recording of Meetings
The Authority audio records its meetings. Please contact Democratic Services for a copy of the
recording via DemocraticServices@cheshirefire.gov.uk.

MEETING OF THE CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
WEDNESDAY, 9 DECEMBER 2020
Time : 10.00 am
Remote Meeting - Via Skype
AGENDA
PART 1 - BUSINESS TO BE DISCUSSED IN PUBLIC
1

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

1A

Recording of Meeting
Members are reminded that this meeting will be audio-recorded.

1B

Apologies for Absence

1C

Chair's Announcements
To receive any announcements that the Chair wishes to make prior
to the commencement of the formal business of the meeting.

1D

Declaration of Members' Interests
Members are reminded that the Members’ Code of Conduct
requires the disclosure of Statutory Disclosable Pecuniary Interests,
Non-Statutory Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Disclosable NonPecuniary Interests.

1E

Questions from Members of the Public
To receive any questions submitted, in accordance with procedure
rules 4.47 to 4.54 by members of the public within the area covered
by the Fire Authority.

1F

Minutes of Fire Authority
(Pages 1 - 6)
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the Fire Authority
Meeting held on 7th October 2020.
Note: Minute 2 relates to the Audit Findings Report. Two of the
recommendations in Minute 3 concerned with the Final Accounts
2019-20 and Annual Governance Statement were contingent upon
the Audit Findings Report being finalised. This has now happened
and a copy of the report has been supplied to Members. The
finalised 2019-20 Statement of Accounts and Letter of
Representation have now been signed. The External Auditor will
provide a verbal update at the meeting.

1G

Minutes of the Estates and Property Committee
(Pages 7 - 36)
To receive, for information, the minutes of the Estates and Property
Committee meeting held on 6th November 2020.
The following reports, that were considered by the Estates and
Property Committee on 6th November 2020, are annexed to the
Agenda:
Fire Station Modernisation Programme
Minute 3 includes a recommendation from the Committee that the
Fire Authority allocates a further £3m to the Fire Station
Modernisation Programme, to fund Year 3 of the Programme.
Crewe Fire Station
Minute 6 includes a recommendation from the Committee that the
Fire Authority allocates a further £2m to the Crewe Fire Station
project.
Members are asked to consider these recommendations in the
context of the information contained in the report at Item 2 of
the Agenda, 2021-22 Draft Budget and Medium Term Financial
Plan. Recommendation 2 in the report refers.

1H

Minutes of Brigade Managers' Pay and Performance Committee (Pages 37 - 38)
To receive, for information, the minutes of the Brigade Managers’
Pay and Performance Committee meeting held on 16th November
2020.

1I

Minutes of Staffing Committee
(Pages 39 - 42)
To receive, for information, the minutes of the Staffing Committee
meeting held on 16th November 2020.

1J

Minutes of Performance and Overview Committee
(Pages 43 - 52)
To receive, for information, the minutes of the Performance and
Overview Committee meeting held on 25th November 2020.

1K

Notes of the Member Training and Development Group
(Pages 53 - 56)
To receive, for information, the notes of the Member Training and
Development Group meeting held on 6th October 2020.

1L

Notes of the Risk Management Board
(Pages 57 - 62)
To receive, for information, the notes of the Risk Management
Board meeting held on 13th October 2020.

1M

Programme of Member Meetings 2021-22
(Pages 63 - 64)
The Programme is similar to previous years, taking into account as
far as possible the anticipated meeting arrangements of the
constituent authorities.

ITEMS REQUIRING DISCUSSION / DECISION
2

2021-22 Draft Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan

(Pages 65 - 70)

3

Treasury Management - Mid Year Report 2020-21

(Pages 71 - 78)

4

Mental Health Strategy 2021-2025
(Pages 79 - 82)
A copy of the Mental Health Strategy 2021-2025 booklet has been
separately supplied with the agenda pack.

5

Service Management Team Structural Review

(Pages 83 - 94)

6

Member Training and Development Programme 2020-21

(Pages 95 - 104)

7

Member Development Strategy 2019-21

(Pages 105 - 118)

PART 2 - BUSINESS TO BE DISCUSSED IN PRIVATE
None

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1F
Minutes
Cheshire Fire Authority
Wednesday, 7 October 2020

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY held on
Wednesday, 7 October 2020 at 10.00am - Remote Meeting - Via Skype
PRESENT: Councillors Bob Rudd, Rachel Bailey, Michael Beanland, Mike Biggin,
David Brown, Razia Daniels, Martyn Delaney, David Edwardes, Phil Harris, Jill Houlbrook,
Marilyn Houston, Gina Lewis, Les Morgan, Karen Mundry, Stef Nelson, Stuart Parker,
Rob Polhill, Norman Wright, Steve Wright and David Keane
1

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

A

Recording of Meeting
This meeting was held using Skype and in accordance with the Remote Meeting
Rules. The Director of Governance and Commissioning confirmed how participants
were connected to the meeting and how it would be broadcast. He also mentioned
how the meeting would be monitored throughout.
Members were reminded that the meeting would be audio-recorded.

B

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Nick Mannion, James
Nicholas, Jonathan Parry and Peter Wheeler.

C

Chair's Announcements
The Chair asked Members to note the content of the Chair’s announcements which
included details of activities carried out by the Cheshire Fire and Rescue Services
during the Coronavirus pandemic.
Firstly, the continuing work to support partners and the community dealing with
Covid-19 which had included the delivery of the 8,000th prescription; and swab
testing of patients due to have hospital procedures. Initial indications from the
recent inspection by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary & Fire and Rescue
Services were that the Service is performing well during Covid-19.
Secondly, the impressive efforts to support the Firefighters Charity. A challenge
created by the Charity had led to around £180,000 being raised across the country.
Activities involving Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service staff had contributed £40,000
of the total amount. The Chair on behalf of the Authority took the opportunity to
thank all of those that have taken part in events and challenges and that had
contributed to this fantastic charity.

Page 1

1

Minutes
Cheshire Fire Authority
Wednesday, 7 October 2020

D

Declaration of Members' Interests
Councillors Razia Daniels, Marilyn Houston and Gina Lewis indicated that they were
members of Cheshire Pensions Board. Whilst this role was a disclosable nonpecuniary interest the Members were able to participate in and vote on Item 3, Final
Accounts 2019-20 and Annual Governance Statement.

E

Minutes of Fire Authority
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the Fire Authority meeting held on 1st July 2020 be
approved as a correct record.

F

Minutes of Performance and Overview Committee
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee held on 22nd
July and 2nd September 2020 be noted.

G

Minutes of the Closure of Accounts Committee
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the Closure of Accounts Committee held on 22 nd July 2020
be noted.

H

Minutes of Governance and Constitution Committee
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the Governance and Constitution Committee held on 29 th
July 2020 be noted.

I

Notes of the Pension Board
RESOLVED:
That the notes of the Pensions Board held on 3rd August 2020 be noted.

J

Updated Programme of Meetings 2020-21
RESOLVED:
That the updated Programme of Meetings for 2020-21 be noted.

2

Page 2

Minutes
Cheshire Fire Authority
Wednesday, 7 October 2020

2

EXTERNAL AUDIT FINDINGS REPORT 2019-20
Michael Green, from Grant Thornton (the External Auditor) introduced the report and
provided an overview of its content and purpose. The report highlighted the key
matters arising from the audit of the Authority’s financial statements for the year
ended 31st March 2020. He explained that the External Auditor was required to
report the audit findings in accordance with the requirements of International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
The External Auditor advised that their work was substantially complete. However,
at the time of drafting the report there was one issue affecting the pensions liability
for which assurance had not been obtained. Information was outstanding from the
auditor of Cheshire Pension Fund on aspects of the pension fund asset values,
Grant Thornton was required to complete audit procedures prior to confirming
whether they had obtained adequate assurances over the pension liability.
The External Auditor confirmed that subject to outstanding queries being resolved he
expected to issue an unqualified audit opinion.
The External Auditor explained that on receipt of the unaudited financial statements
Grant Thornton had revised materiality to better reflect the values included in the
financial statements. The revised amount was £851k.
Members thanked Grant Thornton for the report.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

3

the content of the Audit Findings Report 2019-20 be noted.

FINAL ACCOUNTS 2019-20 AND ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
The Treasurer presented the 2019-20 final accounts to Members for approval.
Members were advised that under normal circumstances, the Authority was required
to approve its audited Statement of Accounts for publication on or before 31st July.
However, due to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, the deadline was now 30th
November 2020.
The Head of Finance advised that the report summarised the changes that had been
made to the unaudited Statement of Accounts. The Statement of Accounts included
the Annual Governance Statement which the Authority was also required to approve
and publish within the same timeframes as the Statement of Accounts.
Members were advised that since the draft accounts were approved there had been
several changes made relating to pension issues and matters raised by the External
Auditor. The changes were caused by the McCloud Judgement. On 21 st August the
Home Office issued guidance to fire and rescue authorities (in England) on
processing prospective ‘immediate detriment’ cases in advance of a decision on the
Government’s final approach to removing the age discrimination as found in the
McCloud/Sargeant Employment Tribunal litigation. This had led to the External
3

Page 3

Minutes
Cheshire Fire Authority
Wednesday, 7 October 2020

Auditors requesting that a revised actuarial calculation be included to reflect this
change.
The Head of Finance gave Members an overview of the final accounts and the
reserves and capital position.
The Head of Finance advised that normally, the External Auditor would issue a final
audit opinion, which would be available at the meeting when the Statement of
Accounts was to be considered. However, this year, due to the lateness of changes
to the Statement of Accounts for reasons beyond the control of officers and the
External Auditor, this opinion was not expected until later in October.
Member thanked Officers for the report.
RESOLVED: That

4

[1]

The 2019-20 Annual Governance Statement be approved;

[2]

The 2019-20 Statement of Accounts be approved and the Chair,
Treasurer, Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer
(as necessary) be authorised to sign the Statement of Accounts and
Annual Governance Statement upon receipt of the finalised audit
opinion;

[3]

The movement on reserves, as shown in the Statement of Accounts, be
noted; and

[4]

The Letter of Representation, as detailed at Appendix 2 to the report, be
approved for signature by the Chair on behalf of the Authority, upon
receipt of the finalised audit opinion.

STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE 2019-20
The Director of Governance and Commissioning introduced the report which
presented Members with the Statement of Assurance for approval, as required in the
Fire and Rescue National Framework (2018).
He explained that the draft Statement had been reviewed by the Governance and
Constitution Committee prior to submission to the Authority. The Statement had
been prepared in accordance with national guidance and included sections on
financial assurance, governance and operational assurance.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the Statement of Assurance 2019-20 be approved.

4

Page 4

Minutes
Cheshire Fire Authority
Wednesday, 7 October 2020

5

ANNUAL REPORT 2019-20
The Senior Campaigns Officer introduced the report which presented Members’ with
the Annual Report 2019-20 for approval and its publication on the Service’s website.
Once approved, an electronic copy of the Annual Report would be published on the
Service’s website to coincide with the conclusion of the Statement of Accounts.
Publication would be announced through the Service’s social media channels and
via mainstream media. It was also confirmed that hard copies would be made
available in libraries and other public places.
The Head of Finance advised that the Summary of Accounts 2019-20 detailed within
the document would be updated once the audit opinion had been received and prior
to publication.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

6

the Annual Report 2018-19 be approved for publication subject to the
amendment of the Summary of Accounts 2019-20.

REVIEW OF MEMBER TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT 2019-20
The Chair suggested that the report was self-explanatory and asked Councillor Gina
Lewis, who chairs the Member Training and Development Group to comment. She
advised that several meetings and training and development opportunities that were
programmed from March onwards had been cancelled due to the Coronavirus
pandemic and these had been re-scheduled into the Member Training and
Development Programme for 2020-21 taking into account social distancing
requirements. She also advised that the Member Personal Development Review
process had commenced in August 2020 the outcomes from the process would be
discussion at the meeting of the Member Development Training Group in December
2020.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

7

the review of Member Development activities for 2019-20 be noted.

INTEGRATED RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN 2020-24 - REVIEW AND
CONSULTATION
The Policy and Transformation Officer presented a report which described the
intended approach to the review of the Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP)
2020-24 and potential consultation activity.
He explained that the IRMP 2020-24 complied with the requirements of the
Framework. However, as time passed it may be necessary to update aspects of the
document and an annual review would consider compliance with the Framework.
Such a review may lead to the IRMP 2020-24 being updated/supplemented. As the
IRMP 2020-24 was only agreed in July 2020 officers did not believe that a review
5

Page 5

Minutes
Cheshire Fire Authority
Wednesday, 7 October 2020

needed to take place until 2021-22. The first review of IRMP 2020-24 would be
presented to Members in the second half of 2021, with a view to a formal report
being considered by Members towards the end of 2021.
The Policy and Transformation Officer advised that the Authority was required to
carry out some consultation on its proposed level of council tax precept. As the
intention was not to consult on the IRMP 2020-24, this year, it made sense to be
prepared to undertake a consultation concerned only with the precept.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the approach to the review of the Integrated Risk Management Plan
2020-24 be noted; and

[2]

the potential consultation concerned with the council tax precept 202122 be noted.

6

Page 6

Agenda Item 1G
Minutes
Estates and Property Committee
Friday, 6 November 2020

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE ESTATES AND PROPERTY COMMITTEE held on
Friday, 6 November 2020 at 2.00pm - Remote Meeting - Via Skype
PRESENT:
Councillors
Karen Mundry
(Chair),
Stef Nelson,
David Edwardes,
Marilyn Houston, Stuart Parker, Peter Wheeler, Norman Wright and Independent (NonElected) Member Lesley Thomson
1

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

A

Recording of Meeting
Members are reminded that this meeting would be audio recorded and broadcasted
live to enable public viewing.

B

Apologies for absence
There were no apologies for absence.

C

Declarations of Members' Interests
There were no declarations of Members’ interests.

D

Minutes of the Estates and Property Committee
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the Estates and Performance Committee held on Friday
13th March 2020 be confirmed as a correct record.

6

CREWE FIRE STATION
This item was considered first at the request of a Member and with the consent of
the Chair.
The Director of Governance and Commissioning introduced the report which
presented an overview of the feasibility work relating to the Crewe Fire Station site.
He informed Members that there had been two major challenges that had extended
the feasibility work: how to secure a suitable temporary fire station arrangement
during the build that was achievable for an acceptable cost; and whether the
bungalow building on the site should be retained or demolished.
The Director explained that there were still two challenges that had the potential to
impact upon work at the Crewe Fire Station site: a restrictive covenant concerned
with building height needed to be relinquished; and the potential impact of HS2

Page 7

1

Minutes
Estates and Property Committee
Friday, 6 November 2020

development work needed to be clarified with absolute certainty. Unless these were
both brought to a satisfactory conclusion the project could not proceed.
Members were reminded that the previous feasibility report exploring a joint fire and
police facility on the Crewe Fire Station site concluded that the facility could not be
created without spending well in excess of what was felt to be value for money. The
Head of Estates and Facilities explained the options for the Crewe Fire Station site
that were contained within the recently completed feasibility report from IKG
Consulting Limited, Appendix 1 to the report supplied with the supplementary
agenda pack.
Members considered all options within the feasibility report, noting that Option 4 was
expected to be the cheapest and that Option 6 was expected to achieve the shortest
construction period.
A Member queried whether additional environmental enhancements such as electric
charging points had been considered within the options. The Head of Estates and
Facilities assured Members that there had been consideration of the enhanced
environmental performance measures that could be achieved. The plans were
intended to include the installation of charging points as it was not only sensible to
do so, it would help to meet any aspirations to deliver a zero carbon rated building.
A Member required further clarification on the term “partial replacement” used within
the feasibility report and raised concerns that this could be misinterpreted. The
Head of Estates and Facilities confirmed that the term was used as the bungalow
was intended to be retained for those options where the word ‘partial’ had been
used. However, the fire station would be replaced and the bungalow incorporated
into the design. The Director of Governance and Commissioning agreed that the
term ”partial” was probably unhelpful; a new fire station would be created regardless
of the option selected.
Another Member queried the market value of the bungalow. The Director of
Governance and Commissioning stated that the market value had not been
calculated. At this point the main concern was the environmental value of the
bungalow. Was it better to retain it, or demolish it and use the spoil on site, e.g. for
some of the foundations.
Members raised concerns about the impact of HS2 upon the site. The Director of
Governance and Commissioning stated that the communications received did not
make it clear whether there would be any impact and confirmed that he was seeking
further information from HS2 Ltd.
Members reviewed all information contained within the report and agreed that Option
6 should be the preferred option. However, if a suitable site could not be found for
the temporary fire station, then Option 4 should be pursued. Members also
recommended that further capital funding should to be allocated to the project by the
Fire Authority.
RESOLVED: That
2

Page 8

Minutes
Estates and Property Committee
Friday, 6 November 2020

[1]

Option 6 within the feasibility report be adopted as the preferred option
– more properly described as complete replacement of the fire station,
but incorporating the existing bungalow building; and

[2]

Option 4 be pursued if a suitable alternative site for the temporary fire
station cannot be secured in order for Option 6 to proceed.

RECOMMENDED: That
[3]

3

The Fire Authority allocated additional capital funding (£2m) for the
Crewe Fire Station project.

FIRE STATION MODERNISATION PROGRAMME
This item was considered second at the request of a Member and with the consent
of the Chair.
The Director of Governance and Commissioning introduced the report which
provided information on the Fire Station Modernisation Programme (the
Programme). The team responsible for the delivery of the Programme provided
additional information about their contribution to the Programme.
The Maintenance and Property Manager provided information on the works that
were completed during Year One of the Programme. The Procurement and
Contracts Manager referred to the Social Value report for Year One of the
Programme which stated how the Programme had supported the local economy.
She highlighted that £500,000 had been spent in the local supply chain for Year One
and that a targeted 24% of the total supply chain spend would be spent locally for
Year Two.
The Group Manager for Projects discussed the plans for the works in Year Two. He
reiterated that Year Two had a greater emphasis to reduce carbon emissions in
comparison to the plans for works in Years Zero and One. The Building Services
Engineer explained the enhanced environmental measures that were intended in
Year Two.
The Head of Estates and Facilities explained that the Programme spend to-date
were significant higher than anticipated, with £3.25m spent across the six fire
stations within Years Zero and One. It was suggested that costs for future
modernisation activity could be reduced by reviewing the Programme’s plans for
Years Three and beyond. This would lead to a less ambitious Programme.
The Director of Governance and Commissioning highlighted the four types of works
that tended to attract significant costs. Members felt that as the types of work
identified were designed to enhance staff welfare they did not wish to compromise
by reducing the extent of the Programme. Members were comfortable that the Year
2 works should proceed as planned. It was noted that officers were also intending to
continue with the pre-construction work for Year Three.
3

Page 9

Minutes
Estates and Property Committee
Friday, 6 November 2020

Members noted that in order to complete the Programme, further borrowing would
be required. The Director of Governance and Commissioning advised that further
borrowing would heavily impact revenue streams. Members agreed to recommend
that the Fire Authority allocate further capital funding (£3m).
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the report be noted; and

[2]

Officers proceed with the works for Year Two as planned, without
reduction.

RECOMMENDED: That
[3]

2

The Fire Authority allocate £3m additional capital funding to enable
Year 3 of the Programme to proceed during 2021-22.

SERVICE HOUSING
The Project Manager dealing with the programme relating to the service housing
introduced the report which provided an update on refurbishment works to the
service houses and confirmed progress with ancillary matters, i.e. sales of surplus
properties and processes and documentation.
Members were reminded that the Committee had considered a report in March 2019
which contained details of the programme to refurbish the service houses. The
Project Manager explained that a significant amount of work had been completed,
but that sizeable proportion of it would be better described as maintenance work.
This had meant that the refurbishment/improvement works were being delivered at a
slower pace than had been hoped.
He also reported two of the five surplus service houses had been sold and that one
was currently in the process of being sold. Two of the houses were proving to be
more difficult to sell.
A Member queried whether consideration had been given to sell the houses to an
organisation that might want them for social rental. The Director of Governance and
Commissioning stated that this option had not previously been considered and that it
would be considered.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

4

the report be noted.

CHESTER FIRE STATION
The Director of Governance and Commissioning introduced the report which
provided Members with an update about progress on the construction of Chester
Fire Station. Members noted that despite setbacks during the initial stages of the
4

Page 10

Minutes
Estates and Property Committee
Friday, 6 November 2020

project and the current Covid-19 Pandemic, the project had progressed well, with its
completion due early in 2021.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
5

the Chester Fire Station report be noted.

TRAINING CENTRE
The Director of Governance and Commissioning introduced the report which
provided Members with information about progress with the Training Centre project.
He confirmed that the project had overspent and explained the major reasons for
this. He was pleased to report that the site would be handed over as complete
within 10 days and that thereafter staff training on how to use the various facilities
within the training centre would get underway. Members would receive a tour of the
site as soon as it was safe to do so.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

7

the report be noted.

WILMSLOW EMERGENCY SERVICES FACILITY
The Director of Governance and Commissioning introduced the report which
provided a brief update about work to-date associated with the decision to introduce
the day crewing duty system at Wilmslow Fire Station.
He explained that discussions with colleagues from North West Ambulance Service
and Cheshire Constabulary identified the potential to create an emergency services
facility in Wilmslow. As a result feasibility work was ongoing, which was aimed at
establishing how such a facility could be created on the site, together with the
erection of nine service houses close-by.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the report be noted.

5

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
MEETING OF:
DATE:
REPORT OF:
AUTHOR:

ESTATES AND PROPERTY COMMITTEE
6TH NOVEMBER 2020
DIRECTOR OF GOVERNANCE AND COMMISSIONING
ANDREW LEADBETTER

SUBJECT:

FIRE STATION MODERNISATION PROGRAMME

Purpose of Report
1.

This report provides information about the Fire Station Modernisation Programme
(the Programme). It contains a general update; specific information about Year
Two of the Programme (and seeks guidance from Members about this) and
information about the future of the Programme, including the budget.

Recommended: That Members
[1]

Note the report;

[2]

Provide guidance in relation to Year Two of the Programme; and

[3]

Consider the budget and funding position before making a decision about
Year Three of the Programme.

Background
Approvals
2.

The Fire Authority committed to the Programme in September 2018. The
Programme is concerned with 21 fire stations. £8.5m was allocated in the capital
programme, with £3.5m released initially.

3.

This Committee agreed the delivery schedule at a meeting in December 2018.
This is attached to the report as Appendix 1. At the same meeting Members gave
some direction to officers about how they wanted the works at Runcorn Fire Station
to be delivered.

4.

In March 2019 this Committee approved the procurement route to secure a
contractor to deliver the Programme from Year One onwards. In March 2020 this
Committee agreed that officers should secure the release of the remaining
allocated capital funding. The Fire Authority agreed this in July 2020.

Page 13

Year Zero
5.

In order to get the Programme off to a prompt start a quick route to market was
followed for the Year Zero works. The two fire stations that were modernised in
Year Zero were Bollington and Tarporley. They were chosen as they were
considered to be manageable projects which were not expected to be too
challenging. Even at this initial stage officers were concerned about the costs of
the works and it is fair to say that a number of compromises were made. Our
experience of working with the contractor on the Year Zero works was not a good
one. However, ultimately the works were completed to a decent standard and the
fire stations were modernised considerably.

Year One
6.

This was a much bigger undertaking than Year Zero. It involved the modernisation
of four fire stations, Birchwood, Middlewich, Runcorn and Sandbach. However,
we were working with a new contractor and the experience was very good. We
had also learnt some valuable lessons from Year Zero and taken on board the
comments made by this Committee.

7.

The Year One works were completed to a high standard and for the agreed budget.
This was particularly pleasing given the challenges caused by the Covid-19
Pandemic. The works in Year One included additional elements to those delivered
in Year Zero, but there were still some compromises due to concerns about the
budget e.g. limited external works were carried out. The intention will be to pick
some of these works up using the maintenance budget in future years.

Information
Year Two
8.

The internal team and the contractor have been working on the pre-construction
requirements that need to be finalised before we commit to the Year Two works.
Year Two will see the modernisation of the fire stations in Audlem, Holmes Chapel,
Northwich and Widnes.

9.

For Year Two the approach was changed, with the intention of creating a list of
requirements that were not considered to involve any significant compromises.
The requirements also took into account some additional elements, e.g. the need
to consider the garaging of the Rapid Response Rescue Units (agreed as part of
the Integrated Risk Management Plan 2020-2024). In Year Two the team was
also challenged to come up with an approach that would significantly reduce the
carbon impact of Widnes Fire Station (it being one of our larger fire stations).
Environmental enhancements have also been specified at other fire stations. The
Year Two works are also intended to be completed in two halves, rather than
having all four jobs on the go at the same time, which was difficult to manage.

10.

The Year Two works are due to start early in the New Year and be completed in
the first quarter of the next financial year. However, before officers commit to the
Year Two works they were keen to explain the budget situation as it is becoming
increasingly clear that the overall budget will be substantially more than was
envisaged if Years Three, Four and Five are pursued in the same way as Year

Page 14

Two. At this point there is the potential to change the requirements in Year Two
and therefore reduce the budget. Whilst this is not what officers would necessarily
recommend, a list of possible items have been compiled that could be removed
from the requirements. Indeed, it would be possible to revisit some of the core
elements of the Programme, which are listed below, given that these are having a
significant impact on the budget:
Provision of suitable gym
Provision of separately accessed community room and ancillary facilities
Provision of gender-neutral pods
Provision of garage for the Rapid Response Rescue Units
11.

Officers will talk through the requirements at the four fire stations due to be
modernised in Year Two at the meeting so that Members can consider whether
they are happy with the direction of the Programme and whether they are
comfortable to ask the Fire Authority to allocate additional funding at this time.

Financial Implications
12.

The Programme was originally anticipated to cost circa £8.5m. However, this
figure was based on some high level condition surveys and did not take account
of the full set of requirements to be delivered by the Programme. It was also
calculated before the works were market tested.

13.

When officers secured the release of the balance of the allocated funding
Members were made aware of concerns about the overall cost of the Programme.
However, the anticipated cost of the Programme will be even higher if it proceeds
along the same lines as Year Two. To an extent some of the Programme almost
certainly will need to follow the approach in Year Two, e.g. Rapid Response
Rescue Units will be deployed from all on-call fire stations and the received
wisdom is that they need to be garaged.

14.

The table below contains the capital costs of Year Zero and Year One.
Bollington

Tarporley

Total

£234k

£173k

£407k

Birchwood

Middlewich

Runcorn

Sandbach

Total

£777k

£464k

£1.029m

£565k

£2.835m

Year Zero

Year One

15.

Currently, Year Two is expected to cost around £3.46m. However, this figure is
not finalised at this point as some elements are still being market testing and
decisions made by this Committee may have an impact upon it.

16.

The total of the costs of Years Zero and One, together with the anticipated cost of
Year Two (delivering the requirements currently costed) is, therefore £6.7m. This
means that there is £1.8m of the initial £8.5m available to proceed with the

Page 15

Programme. This will not cover the works that will be required to complete Year
3 of the Programme. At the end of Year Two ten fire stations will have been
modernised, leaving eleven more to complete over Years Three, Four and Five.
17.

Colleagues in Estates have prepared a number of projections in the hope that they
could provide a funding requirement for delivering the rest of the Programme
(Years Three, Four and Five). This is normally a fairly difficult task as a number
of things can change over a three year period, e.g. material price fluctuations,
labour availability impacting on rates and general inflation. At present, adding in
the current uncertainties caused by Brexit and Covid-19 there can be little
confidence in any projection. Indeed, they range from circa £15 to circa £20m, but
obviously depend on many variables. In view of this it is suggested that we
concentrate on securing funding for Year Three and then return to Members with
costs for Year Four next year. As things stand, bearing in mind that there are two
sizeable fire stations to modernise in Year Three it is suggested that an additional
£3m of funding is allocated by the Fire Authority.

18.

The currently approved medium term financial plan requires the use all remaining
available financial reserves to fund the proposed capital strategy including the
£8.5m budget for this modernisation programme. If any new or additional capital
expenditure is approved by the Fire Authority, as discussed above, this will
therefore almost certainly require financing with additional new borrowing. Any
new borrowing will bring associated interest and debt repayment charges that will
add long term cost pressures to the revenue budget.

Legal Implications
19.

There are no legal implication arising from the decisions being sought in this
report.

Equality and Diversity Implications
20.

The Equality and Inclusion Officer has helped to develop the Programme and will
continue to be involved.

Environmental Implications
21.

The Programme includes environmental enhancements. However, some of them
are not costed in the figures provided earlier in this report. There is, currently, an
opportunity to secure external funding for ‘decarbonisation’ and this might assist
in reducing pressure on the Programme budget. Officers will outline the
environmental elements that are being pursued/considered at the meeting.

CONTACT: DONNA LINTON
HEADQUARTERS, CLEMONDS HEY, WINSFORD
TEL [01606] 868804

Page 16

Appendix 1 to Item 3
Estates and Property Committee
6 November 2020

Station Modernisation Delivery Schedule

Year

Financial
Year

Cheshire
East

Cheshire
West

zero

2018-19

Bollington

Tarporley

1

2019-20

Middlewich
Sandbach

2020-21

Audlem
Holmes
Chapel

Northwich

2021-22

Congleton
Knutsford

Ellesmere
Port
(major)
Malpas

4

4

2022-23

Macclesfield
(major)
Poynton

Frodsham
Winsford

4

5

2023-24

Nantwich
Wilmslow

Sub-Total

11

6

Replace

Crewe

Recent
Total

2

3

Halton

Warrington

Total
2

Runcorn
(major)

Birchwood

Widnes

4

4

Stockton
Heath

3

2

21

Chester

Warrington

3

Alsager

Powey
Lane

Lymm
Penketh

4

13

8

5

28

Page 17

2

2

This page is intentionally left blank

CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
MEETING OF:
DATE:
REPORT OF:
AUTHOR:

ESTATES AND PROPERTY COMMITTEE
6TH NOVEMBER 2020
DIRECTOR OF GOVERNANCE AND COMMISSIONING
ANDREW LEADBETTER

SUBJECT:

CREWE FIRE STATION

Purpose of Report
1.

To present an overview of feasibility work concerned with the Crewe Fire
Station site. To describe the current position in relation to the restrictive
covenants affecting the land and potential impact of HS2. To allow Members
to determine whether they wish to recommend to the Fire Authority that
additional funding is allocated.

Recommended: That Members
[1]

Note the report

[2]

Indicate which option they wish officers to take forward

[3]

Recommend to the Fire Authority that it allocates additional funding

Background
2.

In September 2018, Members committed to proceed with a joint fire and police
facility on the Crewe Fire Station site. Unfortunately, the feasibility work
ultimately led to the conclusion that the facility could not be created without
spending well in excess of what was felt to represent value for money. Since
that project ended officers have been working with external advisers on various
options for the site. Work has also continued to attempt to release an old
restrictive covenant affecting the site. More recently, correspondence has been
received about HS2.

Information
Options
3.

A paper has been prepared by IKG Consulting Limited. It summarises the
feasibility work that has been done and assesses the various options that have
been considered. The paper describes the options; compares the outline
budgets of each of the options; comments on risk; and compares the relevant
build programmes for each of the options. The paper also covers some key
issues: planning; zero carbon; the retention, or demolition of the community
bungalow; and the requirement for a temporary fire station. The paper is going

Page 19

through final checks before being released and will be supplied to Members on
the 3rd November.
Restrictive Covenant
4.

The title documentation disclosed a restrictive covenant that restricts the height
of any construction on the site. The training tower needs to be higher than the
height in the covenant. The covenant appears to have been intended to protect
a proposed airport (in the deeds a reference is made to aerodrome) and dates
back to the 1930s. It is clearly of no relevance now. Both Cheshire East Council
and the Crown have the benefit of the covenant and after some initial difficulties
we now have contacts at each organisation and are hopeful of making progress
in having the covenant relinquished.

HS2
5.

Initial inquiries of Cheshire East Council were encouraging in that the Council
did not have any plans to make changes to the roundabout/highways that adjoin
the site as a result of HS2. This was a particular concern when the proposed
joint fire and police facility was being considered as it would have involved the
site being developed to its full extent – ever inch of the land could have been
critical.

6.

Week commencing 19th October a letter was received from HS2 and this is
attached to this report as Appendix 1. Members will see that the letter is rather
equivocal and it is not clear what impact, if any, HS2 will have on our site. A
request has been lodged with HS2 to attempt to ascertain what the letter means
to the Fire Authority.

Financial Implications
7.

At this point, the Fire Authority has committed £6m to the project. When
Members receive the paper from IKG Consulting Limited they will see that the
options that are being considered will cost more than the allocated funding.
Therefore, further funding will need to be allocated for the project to progress.

Legal Implications
8.

The restrictive covenant will need to be relinquished before the project
proceeds. The situation with HS2 will need to be clarified satisfactorily before
the project proceeds.

Equality and Diversity Implications
9.

The project will deliver a building that will take into account equality and diversity
requirements.

Environmental Implications
10.

The project will deliver a building that will be a considerable improvement over
the existing buildings which are not environmentally efficient.

Page 20

CONTACT: DONNA LINTON, CLEMONDS HEY, WINSFORD
TEL [01606] 868804
BACKGROUND PAPERS: NONE

Page 21

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 to Item 6
Estates and Property Committee
6 November 2020

Crewe Fire Station Rebuilding Project
Summary of Feasibility Reports and Options
Introduction and Options Considered:
1.

The existing building is known to be in very poor condition, requiring extensive
refurbishment and remodelling. The structural layout of the building is such that it appears
to be a very rigid reinforced in situ concrete frame with lateral restraint provided by large
spine walls. Alterations to this structure will, if feasible, be expensive. It is felt at this point
that they will not be possible.

2.

The slender nature of some of the columns particularly in the appliance bay, combined with
knowledge of the build date suggest that HAC (High Alumina Cement) may have been used
in the construction of the building. This will mean that the existing frame will have a
shortened lifespan and may not be compliant with todays structural design criteria. HAC is
no longer used having been found to decay considerably faster than traditional concrete.

3.

The existing Fire Station is supplemented by a 1990’s built “Community Bungalow” which
is of domestic style construction; load bearing masonry with roof trusses and domestic
standard services installations.

4.

An initial site appraisal identified three options for consideration in an initial feasibility report.
From this report it subsequently became clear that the cost of a temporary fire station for
two fire appliances and two wholetime fire crews would be prohibitive and a further Option
(4) was identified to rebuild the station without the need for a temporary fire station. Whilst
this option separates the construction site and operational response, as with any “shared
site” there is a considerable risk that the construction operations could cause operational
disruption and create dust and noise issues in the existing station whilst the works are
undertaken.

5.

A consultation exercise with the Operational Crews undertaken by the Station Manager,
resulted in a suggestion from Blue Watch of an alternative Option 5. This option would entail
an initial build of a new Appliance Bay to the south of the existing station, the use of the
community bungalow as part of a temporary fire station, followed by the demolition and
rebuilding of the remainder of the station, whilst using the new Appliance Bay in lieu of a
temporary appliance bay.

6.

An initial review has been undertaken of the option, to determine its potential viability. This
identified four issues that led to it not being taken further:





7.

a new appliance bay will not fit to the south of the existing station, due to the presence
of a high voltage cable in the vicinity and the easement that protects it.
building an appliance bay as a stand alone structure will require extensive temporary
works.
this option does not provide the programme shortening that delivers approximately
£400k of cost benefit in Option 4.
the proposed temporary accommodation is inadequate for the operational needs (as
briefed)

Further investigations have taken place to determine if alternative temporary facilities are
available within a one mile radius of Crewe Fire Station for use as a temporary off site facility
for the duration of the build. Suitable buildings will require significant fit out works to allow

IKG Consulting Limited Registered in England and Wales no: 7325062 at 294 Blackburn Road, Edgworth, Bolton BL7 0PL

Page 23

use as a fire station. This has been considered in Options 1A, 2A and 6. Further
investigations this week have identified a number of options which may be available.
Obviously, these will all require the Service to enter into arrangements with a third party.
However it is felt that overall this will have considerable benefit to the project as it will
remove the risks associated with maintaining operational response in close proximity to a
confined construction site.
8.

Whilst examining the off site options a seventh option to undertake partial demolition, build
new and construct a partial temporary fire station on site has been identified and considered
further.

9.

In summary the multiple options considered are:
1

Refurbish and extend the existing station, (requires a temporary fire station)

1A

As Option 1, with off site temporary accommodation

2

Complete Replacement, (requires a temporary fire station)

2A

As Option 2, with off site temporary accommodation

3

Partial replacement, retain community bungalow, (requires part of a temporary fire
station).

4

Complete Replacement, community bungalow used for Contractors Accommodation
(no temporary fire station).

5

Phased Build suggested by crews. – Not considered further.

6

As Option 3, with off site temporary accommodation [essentially 3A]

7

Partial demolition, temporary appliance bay only, retain community bungalow

Budget Comparison:
10

In summary the costs for the various options are as follows:
Option 1:

Refurbishment (on site temporary station):

£ 8.10m

Option 1A:

Refurbishment (off site temporary station):

£ 7.35m

Option 2:

Complete Replacement (on site temp Station):

£ 7.70m

Option 2A:

Complete Replacement (off site temp Station):

£ 7.05m

Option 3:

Partial Replacement – Retain Bungalow only
with on site temporary Station:

£ 7.70m

Option 4:

Complete Replacement with no Temporary Station: £ 6.58m

Option 6:

Partial Replacement – Retain Bungalow with
off site temporary station

IKG Consulting Limited Registered in England and Wales no: 7325062 at 294 Blackburn Road, Edgworth, Bolton BL7 0PL

Page 24

£ 6.94m

Option 7:

Phased Build, temporary appliance bay on
site. Retain Bungalow

£ 6.93m

11

The most economical option, is Option 4 at £ 6.58m. This is broadly comparable with the
costs for Chester (after adjustment for inflation and project differences).

12

Options 6 and 7 are the next most economical at £6.94m and £6.93m respectively. Both
these options retain the community bungalow. However Option 6 requires relocation of the
operational response off site for the duration of the build and Option 7 requires a partial
temporary fire station on site.

13

Option 7 involves both a construction site and operational response working in closer
proximity for longer than Option 4, creating additional risks to both the operational crews and
construction workers and potentially creating turnout delays. In addition, it hasn’t delivered
the anticipated cost benefits over Option 6. Consequently, it would be preferable to either
construct Option 6 with the operational response off site or Option 4 with the operational
crews retained on site. It is, therefore our view that Option 7 can be discounted.

14

Option 6 has considerable merit in that for an additional £ 360k the operational response
can be moved off site, thus separating operations and construction during the build phase
and making the construction site less constrained. Both of these benefits will lead to a
reduction in the risk of accidents to both construction and operational staff.

15

Should Option 6 be chosen then there is also a possibility of exploring further options for the
site layout as the constraint of maintaining operational response will have been removed. It
is suggested that agreeing a final site layout is best left until the next stage design team is
appointed.

Risk Comparison:
16

It is worth noting that Option 1 whilst containing a larger contingency in the budget than the
other options also comes with a considerably increased risk profile. This is associated with
the unknowns of working with an existing building, which will only identify themselves as
work commences to strip the existing building.

17

The options which require off site temporary accommodation reduce the risk profiles for the
works considerably as they separate the emergency operational response and site
construction activities further than would be possible with both being retained on site.
However, they do have risks of their own as the fitting out and hiring of a suitable industrial
premise brings additional cost and project uncertainties.

18

Overall the Project Team believe that the risks to the safety of both site operatives, fire
service staff and operational response are lowest with the implementation of off site
temporary accommodation.

Programme Comparison:
19

A summary of the overall build periods is as follows, each will be preceded by a 53 week
pre construction phase, which for illustration purposes uses 1st January 2021 as the design
commencement date.

IKG Consulting Limited Registered in England and Wales no: 7325062 at 294 Blackburn Road, Edgworth, Bolton BL7 0PL

Page 25



Option 1: Build Period: 89 weeks

Completion Date: Sept 23



Option 1A: Build Period: 63 weeks

Completion Date: March 23



Option 2: Build Period: 76 weeks

Completion Date: June 23



Option 2A: Build Period: 55 weeks

Completion Date: Jan 23



Option 3: Build Period: 85 weeks

Completion Date: Aug 23



Option 4: Build Period: 58 weeks

Completion Date: Feb 23



Option 6: Build Period: 55 weeks

Completion Date: Jan 23



Option 7: Build Period: 70 weeks

Completion Date: May 23

Comparison of Operational Outcomes:
20

As part of the initial feasibility study the operational crews were asked to undertake a
qualitative analysis of Options 1 – 3, to consider how they each best delivered the desired
operational outcomes. In summary this identified (for detail see Page 11 of the initial
feasibility report):


Option 1:

negative feedback – no benefits



Option 2:

positive feedback – no negatives identified



Option 3: both positives and negatives identified. The principle negatives being the
remoteness of the accommodation to be housed in the refurbished community
bungalow being “remote from the operational crews” and not “in the spirit of the
inclusivity agenda”.



Option 4 wasn’t specifically analysed but as the building is based on Option 2 it is
expected similar comments will apply.



Option 6 and 7 haven’t been specifically analysed but as the buildings in both options
are based on Option 3, it is expected similar comments will apply.

Planning:
21

A pre planning enquiry was submitted to Cheshire East Council on the 12th June 2020, in
respect of Options 2 and 4 only. The feedback received has been supportive of the principle
of redevelopment with a specific request for a heritage survey being the only unusual
requirement.

22

The use of a nearby industrial unit as a temporary fire station will require an additional
planning application to be made for a temporary use. This clearly creates a potential risk of
refusal, however it is likely that a temporary change of use to facilitate a redevelopment
elsewhere would meet with approval. This hasn’t, however, yet been tested with Cheshire
East Council.

IKG Consulting Limited Registered in England and Wales no: 7325062 at 294 Blackburn Road, Edgworth, Bolton BL7 0PL

Page 26

Zero Carbon Comparisons:
23

The expectation of new buildings going forward is that they achieve a BREEAM Excellent
Standard (or equivalent), with a “Zero Carbon” standard in respect of regulated energy.

24

Whilst these standards have not yet been enshrined in policy documents, it does appear in
draft planning policy and building regulation documents and is expected to become statutory
in the near future, probably prior to commencement of this project on site.

25

It is therefore prudent that these standards are applied to future new buildings. Whilst these
standards will not be applied to existing buildings imminently other legislation is proposed in
the medium term that will introduce a carbon tax on emissions from property to encourage
retrofitting of measures to achieve zero carbon on existing property.

26

All of the new build elements of the options considered will meet these standards of
BREEAM Excellent and Zero Carbon – Regulated Energy. In the case of Option 1, 1A and
the refurbished elements of Options 3, and 6 and 7 this will not be the case.

27

The BREEAM Assessment for refurbishments is a completely different assessment than for
a new build and whilst we can achieve a BREEAM Excellent (Refurbishment) for Option 1
at present, it is unlikely that we will achieve this rating when this assessment is upgraded,
which is expected to occur later this year, early next year.

28

Whilst all of the refurbished elements in each of the options will demonstrate a considerable
decrease in energy consumption achieving “Zero Carbon” is not possible within the budgets
identified above. This is largely due to the inability to improve the existing fabric sufficiently
to achieve the heat loss calculations required.

Retention of Community Bungalow:
29

Options 3, 6 and 7 include the retention of the existing bungalow.

30

There is a view that a “new building” such as this should be retained until it reaches then
end of its design life (circa 60 years).

31

In considering the options, a condition assessment of the bungalow has been undertaken.
Whilst items such as the external walls are in good condition and would last a further 30
years without intervention, other building systems such as boilers, wiring, windows and the
like which normally have a life span of 25 – 30 years are in fact nearing the end of their lives
and the building will shortly require a major “half life” refurbishment at considerable expense.

32

The cost of undertaking this has been identified as being £114,850 and this has been
incorporated into the costing of each option, where relevant.

33

Undertaking the refurbishment referred to above will improve the carbon consumption
credentials of the building and with the addition of PV Panels to the roof (not costed pending
assessment of the roof structure) it could be further improved. However, put simply there
isn’t enough roof to provide the PV area necessary to offset the carbon consumption of the
building.

IKG Consulting Limited Registered in England and Wales no: 7325062 at 294 Blackburn Road, Edgworth, Bolton BL7 0PL

Page 27

34

As the building will be heavily stripped as part of the refurbishment, it is thought by the
professional design team that demolishing the building using the crushed masonry in the
formation of the training yard, would be as “green” a solution as refurbishment.

35

This has the benefits of:


Saving refurbishment cost



Saving a potential long term “carbon tax” liability



Reducing operational energy consumption



Increasing the overall usability of the whole site. (Option 4 cannot work without it’s
demolition).

Temporary Fire Station:
36

In order to maintain the operational response during the build phase most of the options
identified require the provision of temporary facilities. These temporary facilities take two
approaches:
a. Options 1, 2 and 3 require the full provision of a temporary fire station on site, in facilities
similar to those being used currently at Chester Fire Station.
b. Options 1A, 2A and 6 require the hiring of a nearby industrial unit for use as a temporary
fire station. A site search undertaken in September 2020, has identified at that time
availability of one unit which would be suitable. (It was the only unit available at that
time).

37

Whilst this facility will be suitable, it will require compromise to accommodate a temporary
fire station in it. This may include:


Two Appliances parked one behind the other, not side by side, sharing a single vehicle
exit.



Not all the operational facilities associated with a fire station can be accommodated
due to space requirements. There may for example, be insufficient room to provide a
Gym. Also the provision of a BA Compressor and cylinder charging, may be difficult
and consequently have to be at a nearby station.

38

As an industrial unit is essentially a large warehouse (open space), it will require
considerable fit out works to provide the necessary facilities, which will require removal on
completion. It has been assumed that this will be provided through the erection of portable
buildings internally to the warehouse. (This will also make it easier to heat etc).

39

Further discussions will need to take place with the operational staff when the premises to
be occupied temporarily are finalised, to arrive at a temporary accommodation specification
that is acceptable.

40

Of these two options the off site option still has considerable cost of circa £360k, however
this is considerably lower than the circa £1m cost of the on site option that was originally
being considered.

IKG Consulting Limited Registered in England and Wales no: 7325062 at 294 Blackburn Road, Edgworth, Bolton BL7 0PL

Page 28

Recommendation:
41

The recommendation is that Option 6 at an estimated capital cost of £6.94m and a build
period of 55 weeks be pursued, with the provision of off site temporary accommodation
utilising a nearby industrial premise on a short term lease.

42

In the event that it isn’t possible to achieve a suitable off site rental solution Option 4 remains
as a potential second solution which could be pursued.

43

Both Options are viable from a construction perspective and will result in the provision of the
required facilities. However, Option 4 carries additional risks and design compromises as a
result of working around the existing building.

IKG Consulting Limited Registered in England and Wales no: 7325062 at 294 Blackburn Road, Edgworth, Bolton BL7 0PL

Page 29

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2 to Item 6
Estates and Property Committee
6 November 2020

Page 31

Page 32

Page 33

Page 34

Page 35

Page 36

Agenda Item 1H
Minutes
Brigade Managers' Pay and Performance Committee
Monday, 16 November 2020

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE BRIGADE MANAGERS' PAY AND
PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE held on Monday, 16 November 2020 at 1.00pm, Remote
Meeting - Via Skype
PRESENT: Councillors Bob Rudd (Chair), Stef Nelson, Michael Beanland, Mike Biggin,
Karen Mundry, Stuart Parker and Peter Wheeler
1

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

A

Apologies for Absence
There were no apologies for absence.

B

Declaration of Members' Interests
There were no declarations of Members’ Interest.

C

Minutes of the Brigades Managers' Pay and Performance Committee
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the Brigade Managers’ Pay and Performance Committee
held on 15th January 2020 be confirmed as a correct record.

2

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
RESOLVED: That:
That under Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) Order 2006, the press and
public be excluded from the meeting for the items of business listed below on
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in Schedule 12A to the Act in the paragraphs indicated:
Item 3 – Appraisal of Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive (Interim Review)
2020-21
Paragraph
(1)

Information relating to an individual.

Page 37

1

Minutes
Brigade Managers' Pay and Performance Committee
Monday, 16 November 2020

3

APPRAISAL OF CHIEF FIRE OFFICER AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE (INTERIM
REVIEW) 2020-21
The interim appraisal review took place, providing a valuable opportunity for the
Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive and Members to have a focused confidential
discussion about priorities, performance and development.
The Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive provided details of progress against the
key and personal development objectives in his appraisal.
The Brigade Manager’s Pay and Performance Committee agreed to meet on 22 nd
March 2021.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

progress against the objectives in the Chief Fire Officer and Chief
Executive’s appraisal 2020-21 be noted.

2

Page 38

Agenda Item 1I
Minutes
Staffing Committee
Monday, 16 November 2020

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE STAFFING COMMITTEE held on Monday, 16
November 2020 at 3.00pm - Remote Meeting - Via Skype
PRESENT: Councillors Bob Rudd (Chair), Stef Nelson, Michael Beanland, Mike Biggin,
Karen Mundry, Stuart Parker and Peter Wheeler
1

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

A

Recording of Meeting
The meeting was held using Skype and in accordance with the Remote Meeting
Rules. The Director of Governance and Commissioning confirmed how participants
were connected to the meeting and how it would be broadcast. He also mentioned
how the meeting would be monitored throughout.

B

Apologies for Absence
There were no apologies for absence.

C

Declaration of Members' Interests
There were no declarations of Members’ interest.

D

Minutes of the Staffing Committee
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the Staffing Committee held on 15th January 2020 be
confirmed as a correct record.

2

PRESENTATION ON THE PEOPLE STRATEGY
The Director of Transformation delivered a presentation which provided an update
about developments associated with the People Strategy 2019-22 (the Strategy).
Members were informed that the Strategy was predicated on the ‘Steps Framework’
which consisted of three main elements: Step In; Step Forward; Step Up. An
overview was provided in respect of each of the elements, confirming activities
carried out to-date and future intentions.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the People Strategy update be noted.

Page 39

1

Minutes
Staffing Committee
Monday, 16 November 2020

3

PRESENTATION ON THE COVID-19 STAFF SURVEY ACTION PLAN
The Policy and Transformation Officer delivered a presentation which provided an
overview of activities captured in the Covid-19 Staff Survey Action Plan. It focused
on: key aspects of staff feedback and how issues could be addressed through
engagement with staff.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

4

the presentation concerned with the Covid-19 Staff Survey Action Plan
be noted.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME DISCRETION POLICY
Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Transformation which sought
approval of a revised Local Government Pension Scheme Discretion Policy.
Members were advised that the main changes involved the introduction of wording
allowing extenuating circumstances to be considered, as well as acknowledging that
there might be situations where discretion might be appropriately exercised if there
was a financial or organisational benefit to the Service. The policy had also been
updated to reflect that fact that all discretions would require the approval of the Chief
Fire Officer and Chief Executive, the Treasurer and the Pension Scheme Manager.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

5

the Local Government Pension Scheme Discretions Policy be approved.

WORKFORCE PLANNING UPDATE
Consideration was given to a report of the Head of Service Delivery which provided
an update in respect of the current and predicted operational establishment levels
for the remainder of the financial year 2020-21 and predicted operational establish
levels for 2021-22.
RESOLVED: That

6

[1]

the Workforce Planning update be noted; and

[2]

the recommendations contained in paragraphs 14, 15 and 16 be
approved.

DISCIPLINE AND GRIEVANCE UPDATE
Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Transformation which provided
an update on discipline cases, grievances, dignity at work complaints and
Performance/Capability procedures within the Service.
RESOLVED: That
2

Page 40

Minutes
Staffing Committee
Monday, 16 November 2020

[1]
7

the Discipline and Grievance update be noted.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
RESOLVED: That:
That under Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) Order 2006, the press and
public be excluded from the meeting for the items of business listed below on
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in Schedule 12A to the Act in the paragraphs indicated:
Item 8 – Service Management Team Review
Paragraphs

8

[1]

Information relating to any individual

[3]

Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular
person (including the authority holding that information

SERVICE MANAGEMENT TEAM REVIEW
Mr Steve Mason from RealWorldHR Limited gave a presentation on the Service
Management Team Review.
The review was commissioned by the Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive and
was intended to determine whether the current Service Management Team structure
was fit for purpose and sustainable. The initial findings from the review had been
considered by the Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive and he asked
RealWorldHR Limited to make a presentation to the Committee.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the contents of the presentation be noted; and

[2]

the recommendations by RealWorldHR be supported; and

[3]

a report be prepared for the Fire Authority dealing with the outcomes of
the review and the recommendations in relation to the Service
Management Team.

3

Page 41

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1J
Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 25 November 2020

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
held on Wednesday, 25 November 2020 at 10.00am - Remote Meeting - Via Skype
PRESENT: Councillors Phil Harris (Chair), Razia Daniels, Gina Lewis, Les Morgan,
James Nicholas, Jonathan Parry, Peter Wheeler and Norman Wright and independent (nonelected) member Derek Barnett
1

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

A

Record of Meeting
Members were reminded that the meeting would be audio-recorded.

B

Apologies for Absence
There were no apologies received.

C

Declaration of Members' Interests
There were no declarations of Members’ interests.

D

Minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee held on
Wednesday 2nd September 2020 be confirmed as a correct record.

2

FINANCIAL REVIEW - QUARTER 2, 2019-20
The Head of Finance introduced a report which provided a review of the Service’s
forecast financial performance at mid-year and an update on progress against the
2020-21 capital projects.
She informed Members that the Quarter 2 Review was reporting a forecast
underspend of £225k in relation to the revenue budget. She proposed that the
funding be moved to capital reserves to limit future borrowing.
She explained that there were two proposed in year bids for additional funding from
the underspend, the first in relation to thermal fleeces for staff and the second in
relation to an invest to save scheme for photovoltaic panels on various fire stations
(which would assist with the Service’s desire to reach a carbon neutral).
A Member asked if there would be any cost associated with Crewe Fire Station and

Page 43

1

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 25 November 2020

the HS2 project. The Head of Governance and Commissioning said that there were
no clear indications of what impact HS2 might have at Crewe Fire Station, but
discussions were being held with Cheshire East Council and it was hopeful that
some clarity would be forthcoming shortly. Currently, it was thought that any impact
would be below the surface of the fire station site.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the forecast outturn position be noted; and

[2]

the movement in reserves as set out in Appendix 2 be approved; and

[3]

The following in-year bids be approved:
Fleeces for operational firefighters - £38.5k
Installation of PV panels at Middlewich, Sandbach and Tarporley £22.5k
Installation of PV panels at Widnes Community Safety Centre - £12.5k

3

PROGRAMME REPORT - QUARTER 2, 2020-21
The Director of Governance and Commissioning provided Members with an update
on the Service’s programmes and projects. He referred Members to Appendix 1 to
the report which contained a health report for Quarter 2, 2020-21.
He informed Members that the IRMP projects had now been added to the list of
projects contained in the Health Report. Members had received an update on a
number of estates projects at the Planning Day held on 20th November 2020, and
the Director reiterated that good progress had been made given the difficult
circumstances that had prevailed for much of 2020. The Training Centre had now
been completed and handed over and Chester was moving towards completion in
January/February 2021. A status had not been added to the Crewe Fire Station
project update at the moment. However, a suitable delivery plan would be in place
by the end of the year, with milestone dates added to the Cheshire Planning System.
The Assistant Chief Fire Officer, Operational Assurance and Service Improvement,
gave an update on the Operational Training Group Review and stated that this
worksteam would look at a model of training delivery which was fit for purpose and
made best use of the investment made and of the site itself. The Training Centre
would not be used in its entirety until the start of the new training year in April 2021,
as this would enable trainers to finish the current years training and allow time for
them to familiarise themselves with the facility as well as developing courses and
training scenarios. At the same time a pilot model of delivery would bring together
the Incident Command trainers and the Operational trainers into one team in order to
make better use of capacity and enable the centre to open seven days a week and
during the evenings in order to benefit wholetime and on-call firefighters.
2

Page 44

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 25 November 2020

A Member asked about the implications that the Training Centre use could have on
the housing development adjacent and what was being done in terms of protecting
the housing nearest to the Training Centre and what liaison had been undertaken
with the developer. The Director of Governance and Commissioning confirmed that
the Service was aware of the housing development and would endeavour to liaise
with the developer with a view to resolving any potential issues.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
4

the Programme Report – Quarter 2 2020-21 be noted.

PERFORMANCE REPORT - QUARTER 2, 2020-21
The Assistant Chief Fire Officer Operational Assurance and Service Improvement
introduced the report which provided Members with an update on the Service’s
performance against each of the key performance indicators (KPIs). Appendix 1 to
the report included the Corporate Scorecard, which reflected the Quarter 2 position
against targets set and the year-on-year direction of travel for the Service’s KPIs.
Members were referred to Appendix 2 of the report which contained a detailed
description of each KPI, including a summary of current performance and any
actions taken to improve performance.
It was noted that deaths in primary fires had become red in Quarter 1, but that there
had been no further deaths in Quarter 2. Accidental dwelling fires was showing
slightly above target, but figures for fires started in the kitchen were lower compared
with last year. Prevention work had continued with a focus on kitchen fires in the
home and the Service had utilised the 23 virtual station open days to promote safety
messages and these open days had had 153,000 views across social media
platforms.
It was noted that the Pandemic and lockdown had had an effect on regulatory work
with businesses and non-domestic premises, so the target had not been achieved.
However, fires in non-domestic premises were well below target with 66 against a
target of 87.
There had been 56 working days lost due to injuries, but this was because of two
injuries sustained in the previous year which were carried over even though the
actual events happened in the previous year. On a positive note Quarter 2 had not
seen any days lost due to injury.
On-call availability was showing Amber with 78% against a target of 85 and the
Head of Service Delivery reminded Members that in Q1 the on-call availability target
had been achieved. This occurred within the first period of national lockdown when
many on-call staff were working from home or furloughed from primary employment.
As lockdown restrictions were lifted over the second quarter the Service experienced
a downturn in availability, but the direction of travel across all on-call stations
showed an improving picture in comparison with the previous year. Overall
availability in Q2 was 6% higher than in the same period last year. In order to
3

Page 45

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 25 November 2020

provide some assurance to Members, he reported that Cheshire is very much at the
centre of the national discussion about the on-call duty system and this could only
support the work of the On-Call Programme in Cheshire.
The Assistant Chief Fire Officer Operational Assurance and Service Improvement
outlined the hard work undertaken by staff in conjunction with partners and local
authorities to manage the risks associated with Covid. This included deliveries of
prescriptions, shielding visits, bulk deliveries of PPE and pre-operation swab tests.
A Member asked about the ten minute standard and the references to four failures
for distance from the station and whether this was normal or something to be
concerned about. The Assistant Chief Fire Officer Operational Assurance and
Service Improvement responded that the time would always depend on where fire
engines were at the time of call. However, the Service was always concerned about
failures to achieve the standard. The Head of Service Delivery confirmed that the
Service scrutinises every failure to try to understand the reasons why this occurred
and to be certain that everything had been done in order to get to an incident with
the standard.
Members wished to record their thanks to all staff who had gone above and beyond
to help unitary authorities and other partners during the Pandemic and lockdown
periods.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
5

the Performance Report – Quarter 2, 2020-21 be noted.

HMICFRS ACTION PLAN - HEALTH REPORT
The Business Support Manager, Organisational Performance, introduced the report
which enabled Members to review performance against the action plan created in
response to the identified “Areas for Improvement” (AFI) from the inspection report
published by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue
Services (HMICFRS).
At the end of Q4 in 2020 there were 21 open actions remaining. The vast majority of
actions were now complete with only 12 ongoing. Completion of all actions was
expected by the end of March 2021. However, there had been good progress in a
number of areas. Further work had been undertaken to develop recommendations
for the Protection Department and the Project Initiation Document for the Risk Based
Inspection Programme Review had now been signed off by Service Management
Team.
The review of the Attendance Management policy was complete and had been
aligned with the Service’s core value of “Act with Compassion” in mind. Guidance
for managers and staff had also been developed, with a series of attendance
management HR Roadshows running throughout Autumn in conjunction with the
Service’s Mental Health Advisor.
4

Page 46

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 25 November 2020

Communications around wellbeing had become more prevalent with regular articles
and guidance placed on the intranet and in the monthly Alert magazine. The
importance of physical and mental health and wellbeing continued to be promoted
through staff groups and within Covid-19 guidance documents.
During the pandemic management visibility had been maintained via a programme
of Skype visits and regular principal officer briefings thanking staff for their
contributions. All staff have been afforded two days extra leave during 2020 in
acknowledgement of their hard work.
During the Pandemic, the Service had facilitated working from home arrangements
for many staff where practical. Therefore, all aspects of agile working and use of
technology had been tested thoroughly as a result. An interim guidance document
had been produced to provide information to staff who were currently working from
home on a temporary basis. It outlined the approach adopted by the Service to
ensure that staff were able to continue to work from home, safely with the necessary
equipment and support.
The Service set up a forum for staff to ask questions, raise queries or provide
suggestions related to Covid-19. Topics raised had included suggestions about
crewing arrangements, how to reduce the spread of the virus, supporting staff and
increasing help for the vulnerable. These suggestions were considered by
managers and responses were provided.
Work was also ongoing to develop a new staff suggestion scheme with the help of
the Staff Engagement Forum.
RESOLVED: That
{1]
6

the HMICFRS Action Plan – Health Report be noted.

INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT - QUARTER 2, 2020-21 AND FOLLOWUP REPORT
Anne Marie Harrop (the Auditor), a representative from Mersey Internal Audit
Agency (MIAA) was in attendance to present the Internal Audit Quarter 2 2020-21
Progress Report (attached as Appendix 1 to the report).
She reported that work on the payroll systems had now been completed and the
pensions report was in draft awaiting management comments. In addition, financial
systems work had been undertaken and a draft report issued. Risk management
work was due to take place in December and work on collaboration partnerships
which would focus on blue light was at planning stage. In the New Year some work
would be undertaken around estates management.
Key findings of the payroll report were mentioned. It contained a substantial level of
assurance and only two medium risk recommendations had been made. In addition
roles and responsibilities had been looked at and some audit testing on starters,
leavers, bank changes and contractual changes had been undertaken and controls
in place were satisfactory.
5

Page 47

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 25 November 2020

The two medium risk recommendations were to update the overarching payroll
policy and to ensure that payroll checklists used accurately reflected up to date
processes and procedures that are operational on the ground. However, a good
status of internal control in the payroll system had been noted.
In terms of progress on the plan, considering the impact of Covid 19, MIAA remained
on track for a full delivery of the plan by the end of March.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

7

the Internal Audit Progress Report – Quarter 2, 2020-21 and Follow-Up
Report both be noted.

ANNUAL HEALTH, SAFETY AND WELLBEING REPORT 2019-20
The Health, Safety and Wellbeing Manager introduced the report which provided an
update on the management of health and safety in the Service. He highlighted to
Members the key achievements of the Service during 2019-20.
A small increase in the number of minor accidents had been reported, however,
there had been a small decrease in the number of incidents that had to be reported
to the Health and Safety Executive. There was a decrease in the number of duty
days lost as a result of accidents and a decrease in the number of accidents
involving service vehicles. In addition a small decrease in the number of reported
attacks and abuse directed at staff was noted. Time had been spent focussing on
the risks that firefighters face related to cancer following the publication of the
University of Central Lancashire’s research report and this would now be considered
in more detail. There had been a review of the risk assessments and the associated
procedures and the additional hazards and risks associated with Covid-19. The final
quarter of the year saw the Covid-19 pandemic start to take effect across the country
and the Service took immediate action to identify measures that would reduce the
risks to staff and their families and still allow statutory obligations to be met.
The Service continued to deliver Managing Safety Courses with 100% success rate.
The Service had introduced a subgroup of the Health and Safety Committee to focus
on the de-contamination of firefighters and operational kit. Initially, focussing on
decontamination after fire incidents, the group also looked at the provision of
suitable protective clothing and procedures for decontamination of both the kit and
the fire appliances following incidents as a result of Covid.
The Service had employed a Health and Wellbeing Advisor to help improve the
management of mental health in the service and that had proved very successful.
Reporting of injuries, diseases and dangerous occurrences saw 5 reported during
the year, 4 of these were as a result of injuries and known as over 7 day injuries
where an individual is off for more than 7 consecutive days following an injury. None
of these were as a result of significant injuries, with only 1 dangerous occurrence
reported (which related to breathing apparatus).
The Health and Safety Executive considers accident rates based on the number per
6

Page 48

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 25 November 2020

100,000 employees and the data from 2016-17 to 2019-20 shows that the Service’s
reportable accident rate is approximately 450. The average reportable accident rate
for fire and rescue services in the North West is 767 and nationally, the rate is 1,230,
so the Service is performing considerably better than other services. The national
reportable accident rate for all employers in 2019-20 was 230 which does make the
Service look quite poor. However, the Health and Safety Executive does recognise
that their reporting figures are artificially low. The labour force survey is general
seen as more accurate with a national rate of 430, much closer to the Service’s.
It was noted that there was a slight increase in the reporting of minor accidents
which went from 43 up to 51.
The Service’s accident reports for 2019-20 show that most of the accidents resulted
from slips, trips and falls, with manual handling being the next most common cause.
This picture mirrors the picture nationally and across all industries in the country.
During 2019-20 there was a slight reduction in reports of violence and aggression
towards staff.
Vehicle accidents show an improvement. A small sub group of the Health and
Safety Committee regularly looks at what improvements can be introduced and there
had been a successful campaign to reduce the number of incidents where Service
vehicles have been driven in excess of the speed limit.
The Service aims to test every operational firefighter annually to ensure that they
meet the minimum standard of fitness and those who fall below that are taken
through a programme with the aim of getting them back on the run as quickly as
possible. It was noted that the investment that the Fire Authority had made in fitness
equipment and gyms over preceding years was starting to pay off.
A Member asked about planning legislation and consultation regarding new
developments where roads were narrow and no, or limited, parking was provided.
The Health and Safety Manager responded that this point was very important as
most of the Service’s minor accidents tended to occur on small side roads and with
the Government apparently keen to ban parking on pavements the problem would
only get worse. The Director of Governance and Commissioning suggested that this
should be considered further outside the meeting with a view to reporting back.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
8

the Annual Health, Safety and Wellbeing Report 2019-20 be noted.

ANNUAL ROAD SAFETY REPORT 2019-20
The Group Manager, Prevention introduced the report which appended the
Authority’s Annual Road Safety Report 2019-20, containing details of interventions
delivered by the Service. He highlighted the achievements of the Service at events
throughout the year.
7

Page 49

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 25 November 2020

Members’ attention was drawn to the background section of the cover report
reminding them that the service was a strategic partner to support local authorities in
the fulfilment of their statutory duty under the Road Traffic Act 1988. The Service
had been commissioned on behalf of Cheshire East Council to provide road
education to local schools, both at primary and high school level, with a contract in
place over a 6 year period to the value of £432,000. The money received funded
two positions within the Prevention Department to support the delivery of this
activity.
The targets of a wide variety of the road safety activities were achieved and some
activity had been recognised at a national level. Members’ attention was drawn to
the Tyre Safe Winter Driving event which saw the Service receive the Emergency
Services Award with the Tyre Safety educational intervention programme which was
developed and delivered by the Apprentice Firefighters Cohort.
He asked Members to look at the information contained in the report regarding the
commissioned road safety activity for Cheshire East which involved key stage 2 and
key stage 4 delivery to just over 150 primary and secondary schools within the
Cheshire East area. The contract stipulates that the Service is required to hit a
success rate of 90% of completion across those schools. A lot of the delivery year
takes place between January and August and the summer holiday period and this
year that fell directly in to the Covid period when the Service had to adapt its way of
working and a lot of schools were locked down or had a very small numbers of
pupils in school. The direct impact was that the payment of £36,000 which covered
that six month period could not be collected and this had a direct impact on salary
and staffing levels within the department and the two vacant roles of two road safety
officers were not filled. However, discussions have now commenced with regard to
utilising online platforms to ensure that the Service meets its obligations under the
contract and the job description and job role have been finalised for new posts within
the department. The proposed new model would be trialled for 12 months and
utilise two operational crew managers.
The Fire Bike and Biker Down schemes have proved incredibly popular this year,
however, the Service was slightly under target because of the lockdown measures
which impacted in early 2020. Biker Down volunteers and Fire Bike riders
subsequently undertook support in the community by assisting organisations such
as the blood bike service to deliver blood as well as breast milk and tissue sample
deliveries across some of the medical establishments in the North West.
Members were asked to noted that the Service’s Road Safety Officer, Andy Gray,
was now the Vice Chair of the North West NFCC National Road Safety Group and
Cheshire were seen as very proactive in terms of their road safety activities and the
Fatal 5 initiative was now viewed as best practice across the NW Region.
Lancashire had recently taken on the Fatal 5 message which ties in with the
message that Cheshire Fire, Cheshire Police and NW Ambulance promote. Latest
figures received from the Cheshire Road Safety group shows that the five year
overview of collisions where someone is killed or seriously injured had reduced by
38% across Cheshire between 2015 and 2019 and there continued to be a reduction
in the early part of 2020. In 2015 there were 440 collisions and in 2019 this visibly
8

Page 50

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 25 November 2020

reduced to 273. The number went down from 228 at the end of October 2019 to 207
at the end of October 2020 which shows a 9% reduction. This was expected
because of the lockdown measures and was perhaps disappointing with an
expectation that the figures might have been even lower. This had been put down to
a dramatic increase in the number of cyclists or pedestrians that had sadly been
killed or injured in the early part of the 2020 calendar year. Consequently, there is a
huge amount of work to be done around education of cyclists and pedestrians.
A Member asked for an update on the law on tyres. The Group Manager,
Prevention said that there had been a huge amount of campaign work undertaken,
including lobbying for a change in legislation around tyres that were deemed legally
acceptable if they met the relevant tread depth requirements, despite the tyres being
more than 10 years old. Legislation went through parliament very recently that
would put a requirement on owners of HGVs, LGVs and public transport vehicles to
change the tyres not just based on the tread depth, but also the life span of the tyre
as well. However, this did not apply to cars.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
9

the Annual Road Safety Report 2018-19 be noted.

INTERIM BONFIRE REPORT
The Group Manager, Prevention provided Members with a verbal interim update on
the preventative and operational activities of the Service during the bonfire period.
He confirmed that a full report would be presented to the Committee at its next
meeting.
He reported that due to the Pandemic the bonfire period this year had been difficult
to predict. For the first time the Service actively promoted safety messages aimed at
people having bonfires within their own gardens or on their own land so that they
could so in the safest way possible.
Members were asked to note that the normal bonfire reporting period was 24 th
October to 7th November and this year that period covered two and a half weekends.
A huge amount of proactive work was undertaken on social media, local radio and
TV to promote the concept of bonfire safety across Cheshire.
Headlines across the bonfire reporting period showed 41 deliberate secondary fires
which was a 90% reduction from 5 years ago and a 38% reduction from the same
period last year. The social media campaign was slightly harder hitting in terms of
the message delivered. The feedback received through digital media was that this
had a huge reach across Cheshire and was the most popular social media campaign
in terms of the number of people engaging directly with it and the number of people
that re-shared it. In addition a huge amount of information was shared on how to
report nuisance fires and the build up of debris through local authority partners and
the figures recently received show that the reach from our social media campaigns
was just under 600,000 people with viewing figures of just under 100,000 people.
9

Page 51

Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee
Wednesday, 25 November 2020

RESOLVED: That
[1]
10

the verbal interim bonfire report be noted.

FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME
The forward work programme was considered by Members and no changes were
made.
RESOLVED: That:
[1]

The Forward Work Programme be noted.

10

Page 52

Agenda Item 1K
Minutes
Member Training and Development Group
Tuesday, 6 October 2020

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE MEMBER TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
GROUP held on Tuesday, 6 October 2020 at 10.00am - Remote Meting - Via Skype
PRESENT: Councillors Gina Lewis (Chair), David Brown, David Edwardes, Karen Mundry,
Stuart Parker and Independent (Non-Elected) Member Lesley Thomson
1

APOLOGIES
There were no apologises for absence.

2

NOTES FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING
Members and officers were reminded that the Member Training and Development
Group had agreed to no longer receive paper copies of meeting agendas.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

3

the notes of the meeting held on
approved as a correct record.

Tuesday 14th January 2020 be

MEMBER DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 2019-20 AND 2020-21
IMPLEMENTATION - QUARTERLY MONITORING
The Governance and Corporate Planning Manager presented the Member
Development Strategy 2019-20 and 2020-21 Implementation - Quarterly Monitoring
report. The report provided an update for Members on progress made against the
Implementation Plan for quarters 3 and 4 in 2019-20 and quarter 1 in 2020-21.
The Governance and Corporate Planning Manager provided an update on each of
the objectives that were included in the Implementation Plans for 2019-20 and 202021, attached to the report as Appendices 1 and 2. She also suggested that the
Member Development Strategy be extended to cover the period 2020-21 and should
be reviewed every two years going forward.
Objective 1 – Identify and prioritise Member Training and Development needs
and Objective 2 – Review and Refresh of the Members PDR process
It was noted that the Leadership Development Advisor had nearly completed all
Members’ Personal Development Reviews for 2020-21. The Leadership
Development Advisor provided an update at Item 5.
Objective 3 – Provision of an Annual Member Training and Development
Programme

Page 53

1

Minutes
Member Training and Development Group
Tuesday, 6 October 2020

An update on the progress of the Member Development Programme 2019-20 and
the draft version for 2020-21 was provided at Item 4.
Objective 4 – Delivery of a comprehensive and effective Induction process for
new Members
The Governance and Corporate Planning Manager stated that two Members joined
the Fire Authority in 2019-20 part year and one new Member joined in 2020-21. Due
to the Covid-19 restrictions, the Service was unable to host an interactive induction
session this year.
However, all three Members had received an induction pack and met with the Chief
Fire Officer and Chief Executive as part of the inductions process. Any further
information was supplemented through officer buddy meetings.
Objective 5 – Member Champions
The Member Champions were reviewed and approved by the Fire Authority at its
meeting in July which saw the addition of a Mental Health Champion.
RESOLVED That:

4

[1]

progress against the delivery of the Member Development Strategy
2019-20 and 2020-21 Implementation - Quarterly Monitoring report be
noted; and

[2]

the Member Development Strategy 2019-20 be extended until June 2021.

MEMBER TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME 2019-20 AND DRAFT
MEMBER TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME 2020-21 QUARTERLY MONITORING
The Governance and Corporate Planning Manager presented the final quarterly
update on the Member Development Programme (the Programme) for 2019-20 and
the draft Member Development Programme for 2020-21. She informed Members of
events that had already taken place during the year and future events scheduled
within the new draft Programme.
It was noted that the delivery of the Programme 2019-20 was cancelled from March
2020 due to Covid-19 restrictions. However, Democratic Services had worked to
incorporate any of the cancelled development opportunities within the Programme
for 2020-21.
The Programme for 2020-21 were organised within a virtual capacity to account for
social distancing restrictions. Members agreed with the decision to accommodate
virtual training given the difficulty in meeting physically in light of the latest local
authority Covid-19 restrictions.
The Governance Officer queried whether Members required further training for
2

Page 54

Minutes
Member Training and Development Group
Tuesday, 6 October 2020

newly issued IT equipment or on attending virtual meetings. Members advised that
they felt the training they have already received in this area was adequate. However,
Members requested that more information was needed to access the virtual open
days hosted by fire stations.
A Member who was also the Pensions Champion requested a briefing session was
provided to all Members regarding the McCloud Remedy once a decision was
reached. The Governance and Corporate Planning Manager reminded Members
that an update on the McCloud judgement was provided at the Member Planning
Day in September and agreed that once the decision had been made, a further
update would be provided at a future Member Planning Day.
The Pensions Champion advised that he was attending LGA Pensions training on
11th November 2020 and agreed to distribute information from the training to the
Member Training and Development Group, for information.
RESOLVED: That

5

[1]

the delivery of the Member Training and Development Programme for
2019-20 be noted;

[2]

the draft Member Training and Development Programme for 2020-21 be
approved; and

[3]

progress against the delivery of the draft Member Training and
Development for 2020-21 be noted.

MEMBER DEVELOPMENT PLANS 2020-21 UPDATE
The Leadership Development Advisor delivered a presentation which provided an
update on the Member Development Plans for 2020-21.
During the presentation, the Leadership Development Advisor informed the Group
that to date 16 Members had completed their Personal Development Reviews, 6 had
declined and 3 were scheduled to take place over the next few weeks. From the 16
Personal Development Reviews that has taken place 7 were facilitated by Skype
and 9 were via telephone.
Members were informed of some of the key development themes that were
requested during the Personal Development Reviews. However, the Leadership
Development Advisor stated a full report of outcomes would be submitted to the
Group at its next meeting.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

6

the Member Development Plans 2020-21 Update be noted.

DISCUSSION PAPER: MEMBER SATISFACTION SURVEY 2019-20
3

Page 55

Minutes
Member Training and Development Group
Tuesday, 6 October 2020

The Governance Officer introduced a discussion paper that required Members to
share their thoughts on the annual Member Development Satisfaction Survey for
2019-20.
The Governance Officer explained that an annual survey would usually be sent to all
Members in April for their feedback on Member training and development during
2019-20. However, officers had delayed the submission of the survey due to the
impact of Covid-19.
Members considered a number of questions which included how the survey should
be delivered and its content. Members requested that officers prepare a draft survey
for further comment by the Group.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

7

Officers prepare a draft Member Development Satisfaction Survey to be
submitted to the Group for approval, prior to the next meeting.

DISCUSSION PAPER: EVALUATION FORMS
The Governance and Corporate Planning Manager introduced the discussion paper
which required Members to consider the current Member training and development
evaluation form and asked how this could be improved going forward. Especially
now that training was being delivered in various different ways.
Members stated that similar to the Member Satisfaction Survey, they would like the
new forms to be hosted via Survey Monkey. They also suggested that the forms
should be tailored to each session and offer more subjective feedback.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

8

Officers prepare a revamped Evaluation form to be used at the next
Member Planning Day on 20th November 2020.

DRAFT MEMBER TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT WORK PROGRAMME 202021
The Governance and Corporate Planning Manager provided a draft copy of the
Member Training and Development Work Programme 2020-21. Members noted the
content for future meetings.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the draft Work Programme for the Member Training and Development
Group be approved.

4

Page 56

Agenda Item 1L
Minutes
Risk Management Board
Tuesday, 13 October 2020

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT BOARD held on Tuesday,
13 October 2020 at 10.00am - Virtual Meeting - Via Skype
PRESENT:
Members:
Councillor Stef Nelson
Councillor Stuart Parker
Auditor:
Anne-Marie Harrop, Mersey Internal Audit Agency
Officers:
Mark Cashin (Chair), Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive
Andrew Leadbetter, Director of Governance and Commissioning
Allan Rainford, Treasurer
Neil Griffiths, Head of Service Delivery
Neil McElroy, Group Manager for Operation Policy and Projects
Chris Astall, Performance, Planning and Risk Officer
Emilie Salkeld, Governance Officer
1

APOLOGIES
Apologies were received from:
Louise Willis, Planning, Performance and Risk Manager

2

NOTES FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING
The notes from the previous meeting on 17th March 2020 were presented to the Risk
Management Board and the following action was noted:The Planning, Performance and Risk Officer provided on update on risk 975 – Cyber
Security. All policy documents concerned with IT security had been reviewed. She
also advised that risk 1021 – Communications at large incidents was awaiting a
further update.
Group Manager, Neil McElroy confirmed that the ‘battle boxes’ referenced in the
Annual Crisis Management Plan were located at Clemonds Hey and North West Fire
Control.

3

REVIEW OF STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER
The Planning, Performance and Risk Officer introduced the Risk Register and

Page 57

1

Minutes
Risk Management Board
Tuesday, 13 October 2020

provided an update for each risk. The following observations were made:376 – Fire in Iconic Heritage Building
The Chair noted that a meeting had occurred with the Chief Executive Office of
Cheshire West and Chester Borough Council. He requested that the score of the
risk be reviewed in light of the recent actions taken to mitigate the risk following their
meeting.
ACTION: That
[1]

the Planning and Performance team review the risk score for risk 376.

807 – Competing Demands on Resource and Achieving MTFP Targets
It was noted that there had been no autumn budget and it was uncertain whether fire
and rescue services would receive a one or three year settlement. The Treasurer
also discussed the impact of Covid-19 on council tax which was an additional risk to
future funding.
889 – Lack of Commitment from housing providers to fit sprinklers
The Chair reminded the group that Cheshire had the most high-rise buildings fitted
with sprinklers in the country. It was suggested that the risk could be deescalated to
a departmental risk.
ACTION: That
[2]

the Planning and Performance team review the risk scoring for risk 889.

995 – Fire Pension – Increase in employers’ contributions to firefighter pensions
The Treasurer advised that despite the Chancellor announcing that there would be
no autumn budget, there was likely to be a Spending Review for one year. An
announced by the Government about the grant was awaited.
The Chair also advised that once the backdated payment from the McCloud case
had been paid, all grey book employees would move onto the new pension scheme
to mitigate further risk.
1004 – ESCMP/ESN – Ongoing Maintenance
It was noted that the risk had been reduced following the confirmation of an
extended Airwave contract. The Group Manager for Operational Policy and Projects
advised that more SANJ radios were being purchased for the mobilisation of Rapid
Response Rescue Units that would be introduced on to on-call fire stations. It was
agreed that the risk could be deescalated to a departmental risk.
ACTION: That
2

Page 58

Minutes
Risk Management Board
Tuesday, 13 October 2020

[3]

the Planning and Performance update the Risk Register by removing
risk 1004.
1008 – McCloud/Sergeant Judgement – Pension Case
The Treasurer advised that updated guidance was published in August.
2035 – Blue Light Collaboration
The Director for Governance and Commissioning informed the group that the Joint
Corporate Services Business Plans were to undergo scrutiny before approval. He
advised that the risk would be continue to be relevant. He confirmed that he would
provide updates as appropriate.
2029 – COVID-19
The Planning, Performance and Risk Officer advised that the risk had recently been
updated to take into consideration the potential of a second wave of infections
impacting upon staff absence.
A Member queried whether the recent Government tier system had impacted the
Service. The Chair advised that the tier system had not significantly impacted
operations. However, he requested that the Group Manger for Organisational
Performance send an update about Covid-19 to all Members.
Another Member queried whether a degradation plan had been formalised. The
Chair confirmed that an escalation process was in place to mitigate the risk of higher
absenteeism, particularly over the winter months.
ACTION: That
[4]

4

an update prepared by the Group Manager for Organisational
Performance on the impact of Covid-19 be submitted to all Members.

OPERATIONAL AND CORPORATE SERVICES RISK MAP
The Planning, Performance and Risk Officer introduced a report which presented a
high level overview of the Service’s organisational risk profile mapped by each
department.
The Chair gave the opportunity for the Board to request a Deep Dive report for the
next meeting. Members requested a deep dive report on the impact of Covid-19
upon funding for the Prince’s Trust Programme.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the Operational and Corporate Services Risk Map be noted.

ACTION: That
3

Page 59

Minutes
Risk Management Board
Tuesday, 13 October 2020

[1]

5

a Deep Dive report on the impact of Covid-19 upon funding for the
Prince’s Trust Programme be submitted to the next Risk Management
Board meeting.
REFRESH OF RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY
The Planning, Performance and Risk Officer introduced the refreshed Risk
Management Policy which required approval from the Board. The policy had been
updated to reflect current practises. It was reviewed every three years.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

6

the refreshed of Risk Management Policy be approved.

UPDATE ON BENCHMARKING OPTIONS
The Planning, Performance and Risk Officer introduced a report which noted
progress in respect of the benchmarking options which were agreed at the last Risk
Management Board meeting.
It was noted that options 3, 4 and 5 were complete. Options 1 and 2 were postponed
due to the impact of Covid-19 and social distancing requirements which made
organising meetings indoors difficult.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

7

the update on Benchmarking Options be noted.

COVID-19 INTERIM DEBRIEF REPORT
The Group Manager for Operational Policy and Projects introduced the report which
provided an update on the response and feedback from staff and partner agencies
since the implementation of Covid-19 restrictions. He also presented the latest
version of the Pandemic Business Continuity Plan to the Board.
The Board noted that the documents helped to identify lessons learnt and mitigate
future risks. Most feedback received was positive. However, some minor actions
were necessary.
A Member queried whether other impacts of the Covid-19 restrictions, such as local
authority restrictions, working within the community and the procurement of IT and
personal protective equipment for staff had also been taken into consideration within
the plan. The Group Manager confirmed that these issues had been considered and
procurement routes had been adapted to access personal protective equipment for
staff.
It was queried whether contingencies were in place to cover operational roles. The
Chair reassured the Board that it was unlikely that the Service would be unable to
respond to incidents. Thus far since the Pandemic started there had been few
4

Page 60

Minutes
Risk Management Board
Tuesday, 13 October 2020

significant incidents. North West fire and rescues services also had an agreement to
support one another during such incidents.
RESOLVED: That
[1]
8

the Covid-19 Interim Debrief report be noted.

ON CALL AVAILABILITY UPDATE
The Head of Service Delivery delivered a presentation to the group which provided
an update on progress to improve the Service’s on call availability. He explained the
variety of ways that the Service’s recruitment campaign programmes had targeted
the public and how availability for on call stations had increased since the Covid-19
restrictions were put in place.
Members commented on the encouraging increase in availability and queried what
actions were being taken to maintain these levels. The Head of Service Delivery
assured Members that work was underway to explore how staff can continue to work
from home, or on station to increase responsiveness.
Members also queried whether attendance based rewards were given to on call staff
to help maintain availability. It was confirmed that rewards were given once staff
had gained competence, qualifications, or increased their availability.
The Chair announced that the Head of Service Delivery had been appointed as the
Chair of the National Fire Chief Council National On-call Working Group.
RESOLVED: That
[1]

the On Call Availability be noted.

5

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

DRAFT PROGRAMME OF MEMBER MEETINGS FOR THE MUNICIPAL YEAR 2021-22

Cheshire Fire Authority
(Wednesday at 10.30am)
23 June 2021
(Annual meeting)

Governance and Constitution
Committee
(Wednesday at 10am)
14 July 2021

Performance and Overview
Committee
(Wednesday at 10am)
7 July 2021
(Q4 Performance Report)

Staffing Committee
(Monday at 12pm)

8 September 2021
(Q1 Performance Report)

8 November 2021

28 July 2021
(Sign off final accounts)

Page 63

29 September 2021
(Annual report)
(IRMP Consultation)
10 November 2021

24 November 2021
(Q2 Mid Year Performance
Report)

9 February 2022
(Approve final budget & IRMP
sign-off)

26 January 2022

23 February 2022
(Q3 Performance Report)

27 April 2022

6 April 2022

21 March 2022

Agenda Item 1M

8 December 2021
(Consider outline budget)

ADDITIONAL MEMBER MEETINGS:
Estates and Property Committee:

Dates arranged as required.

BM Pay and Performance Committee dates: 10am – 12pm
CFO Interim Appraisal:
BM Pay Review:
CFO Appraisal:

Monday 8 November 2021
Monday 24 January 2022
Monday 21 March 2022

Page 64

Pension Board: 2pm – 4pm
*Additional dates TBA

Wednesday 11 August 2021
Wednesday 10 November 2021
Wednesday 23 March 2022

Closure of Accounts 10am-12pm:

Wednesday 25 May 2022

Risk Management Board: 10am – 12pm

Tuesday 12 October 2021
Tuesday 15 March 2022

Member Training and Development Group: 10am – 12pm

Tuesday 6 July 2021
Tuesday 5 October 2021
Tuesday 7 December 2022
Tuesday 5 April 2022

Member Planning Days:

Friday 9 July 2021
Friday 23 July 2021 (TBC)
Friday 3 September 20201
Friday 12 November 2021
Friday 14 January 2022
Friday 8 April 2022 (TBC)

Agenda Item 2
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
MEETING OF:
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
DATE:
9th DECEMBER 2020
REPORT OF:
TREASURER/HEAD OF FINANCE
AUTHOR:
ALLAN RAINFORD/WENDY BEBBINGTON
_______________________________________________________________

SUBJECT:

2021-22 DRAFT BUDGET AND MEDIUM TERM
FINANCIAL PLAN

_______________________________________________________________

Purpose of report
1.

To inform Members of the progress made in preparing a draft revenue budget and
capital programme for 2021-22.

2.

To ask Members to consider the recommendations from the Estates and Property
Committee concerned with the allocation of additional capital expenditure (Fire
Station Modernisation Programme, £3m and Crewe Fire Station, £2m).

Recommended: That Members
[1]

Note the report;

[2]

Determine whether to allocate additional capital funding for the Station
Modernisation Programme, £3m and/or Crewe Fire Station, £2m.

Background
3.

The Local Government Act 1992 requires the Authority to prepare and approve its
budget and set a precept (the Authority’s share of council tax) before 1st March.
To meet this statutory requirement, at its meeting on 10th February 2021, the
Authority will be presented with the annual budget for 2021-22 and proposed
council tax options for approval. In order to make those decisions the Authority’s
budget report will contain all relevant factors including the likely impact of policy
options, the level of resources available, the financial pressures and the demands
on the service

Current funding status
4.

The Chancellor announced the Government’s Spending Review 2020 on 25
November 2020. It prioritises funding to support the Government’s response to
Covid-19 and sets departmental budgets for 2021-22 and devolved administrations
for the same period, confirming the core day-to-day spending.

5.

Within the Spending Review there is no mention of Fire specifically and as such it
is assumed that the funding levels will remain the same for 2021-22, although this
has yet to be confirmed. This will be clearer when the Local Government Finance
Provisional Settlement is published, which is expected mid-December.

Page 65

6.

There are a few general items within the Spending Review which are worth
mentioning. Firstly, a pay freeze is set to impact upon most public sector workers
in 2021-22, (although this excludes NHS staff and those public sector workers
earning less than £24k, the latter receiving an increase of £250). As 2.5% was
previously built into the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), this has a significant
impact. Secondly, the Government has decided to provide support to local
authorities in relation to the expected reduction in income from council tax and
business rates during 2020-21 caused by Covid. The Government intends to
compensate local authorities for 75% of irrecoverable council tax and business
rates. This would normally have been funded through local authority budgets and
the Authority would have been responsible for a share of this. Thirdly, the
Spending Review also confirmed that local authorities will be able to increase their
council tax bills by 2% without needing to hold a referendum.

7.

In addition to Government funding, the Authority receives its share of the council
tax based on the precept it sets. The total level of council tax income is calculated
based on the local authority taxbase which is determined by the four unitary
authorities within Cheshire. The taxbase is the number of council tax bills issued by
these authorities, adjusted for the impact of new houses; local council support
scheme adjustments; other discounts; and voids/losses. Current estimates
provided from the local authorities show an overall increase in taxbase of 347 (the
increase was 6017 in 2020-21). This is a much lower increase than in previous
years due to the impact of the pandemic (in fact for Cheshire West and Chester
Borough Council and Halton Borough Council the taxbase has reduced). Had the
increase remained in line with previous years, there would have been an increase
in funding of approx. £345k prior to any change in precept, but due to the lower
taxbase, this year that sum is just £25.5k.

8.

Each unitary authority will also notify the Authority of the position on the collection
funds which they manage on behalf of precepting authorities (council tax and
business rates). If the collection performance has improved, or if the assumed
taxbase has increased beyond that initially expected, then there will be a surplus
which is shared between the local council, the Police & Crime Commissioner and
the Fire Authority. In previous years, this would have been the expectation. Of
course if the opposite is true, then as mentioned above there will be a deficit which
the Authority will be required to contribute to in order to rectify the position.

9.

In recognition of the impact such deficits will have, the Government has issued The
Local Authorities (Collection Fund: Surplus and Deficit) (Coronavirus) (England)
Regulations 2020. These allow the 2020-21 deficits to be spread over the next
three years rather than full recovery in 2021-22. In addition, as part of the
spending review the Government has provided grants to local authorities of 75%
towards covering such in-year deficits. Taking all of these into account, the current
estimates suggest that a net £85k is likely to be payable by the Authority over the
next three years. Final figures will be provided by the local authorities in January
2021.

Budget Process & Financial Assumptions
10. The traditional approach to budgeting has always been incremental, with last
year’s budget serving as the basis for the budget of the following year. In
response to the uncertainty of funding going forward, a revised approach to

Page 66

budgeting has been introduced. The Priority Based Budgeting (PBB) model
provides a comprehensive review of the Authority’s entire revenue budget,
identifying and ranking services offered on the basis of the Authority’s priorities.
This diagnostic process allows funding decisions to be aligned to the Authorities
priorities. PBB provides flexibility to respond quickly and appropriately to differing
funding scenarios, while at the same time focusing spending where it can help
meet the priorities set by the Authority.
11. The revenue budget would normally need to include sufficient funding to meet the
costs of pay awards and price inflation. As part of the formulation of the draft
2021-22 Revenue Budget the following assumptions have been made about the
levels of pay awards and non pay inflation:


Provision for pay awards of 0% for 2021/22 per Spending Review



General price inflation of 2%



Specific increases, where known (e.g. the Authority’s Business Rates 5%)

12. The Authority will face some unavoidable cost increases in 2021-22 including
contractual increases and the full year effect of prior year growth. As part of the
budget process, the Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive has led discussions
with Service Management Team colleagues to review the current base budget,
consider the level of unavoidable cost increases and to identify revenue savings.
This process has meant that the potential additional expenditure is broadly offset
by the savings that have been identified, although there is some further review
work needed before the position can be finalised.
13. The following table summarises the overall position based on a 2% increase in
precept:
Funding:
Forecast net increase in funding
Proposed Changes:
Pay & Price Inflation
Potential increased demands
Potential one-off demands

£’000
278
321
202
24
546

14. Based on the work to-date, there are net savings proposals of £269k which would
achieve a balanced budget. However, there is still work to be completed in firming
up some of the proposals, providing clarity as to their deliverability and
understanding the impact, if any, on service delivery. Members will be aware that
the Treasurer (as Section 151 Officer) has to provide a view as to the “robustness
of estimates” in recommending a revenue budget for approval. Once this work has
been completed, a full schedule of the proposed additional expenditure and
savings will be included in the report to the Authority in February 2021.

Page 67

Medium Term position
15. There is considerable uncertainty about the funding position going forward due to
there being another one-year settlement rather than the three year spending
review originally planned pre-Covid. The areas of particular concern still remain as
follows:


Government funding going forward including Revenue Support Grant



Will the part funding by the Government for the increased employer
contributions to the firefighters’ pension scheme continue



How the expected “resetting” of the business rates retention scheme may
impact on the top up/tariff arrangements

16. At the present time, for the purposes of planning for the four-year period from April
2022, assumptions have been made about the level of funding and about the
potential costs increases that may be faced by the Authority.


Government funding to remain static – i.e. flat cash



Precept increase of 1.99% per annum



Taxbase movement in line with local authority’s forecasts (lower than previous)



Pay inflation of 0% in 2021-22 and 1% thereafter (2.5% previous)



Non-pay inflation of 2% in general



Funding for £11m approved borrowing only

17. Based on the broad assumptions set out above, the current forecasts suggest that
the Authority will need to make cumulative savings of about £1.3m between April
2022 and March 2026. Notwithstanding the uncertainties, the Authority is likely to
be required to make reductions in expenditure for the foreseeable future and fund
any significant growth from savings.

Capital Programme
18. In order to fund the currently approved capital programme all capital reserves have
been committed and £11m of borrowing is approved. Under the Government’s
funding arrangements there are no general capital grants provided and while there
is a funding provision for a small capital replacement programme within the
revenue budget, any additional capital spend above that is unfunded and will
require additional borrowing which impacts on the revenue budget.
19. At the Estates and Property Committee 6th November 2020, reports were received
in relation to two capital schemes and Members recommended the additional
capital funding should be approved by the Fire Authority (Fire Station
Modernisation, £3m and Crewe Fire Station, £2m). These reports are contained in
the Agenda Pack. This additional funding, if approved, will require additional
borrowing and add £0.3m to the revenue budget in terms of interest and
repayment. Further capital spend beyond this will also increase the impact on the
revenue budget through additional borrowing.

Page 68

20. Members will recall from a presentation at a recent Planning Day that additional
capital funding will also be required for further property-related projects. The
following figures are broad estimates:


Fire Station Modernisation Programme – to complete, circa £6m



Wilmslow Emergency Services Facility – contribution, at least £3m



Warrington Fire Station (currently, no proposals exist, but significant investment
or replacement will be necessary within the next five years).

21. If Members are minded to approve additional capital expenditure for the projects
mentioned in paragraph 20 this will have a further and significant impact on the
revenue budget; circa £650k per annum will be required to fund the Fire Station
Modernisation Programme and Wilmslow Emergency Service Facility. These are
not decisions to be taken lightly as they will have a lasting impact on the revenue
budget and will increase the likelihood of the Authority being forced to make
difficult choices in future.
22. When the budget is presented to Members in February 2021, the MTFP and
capital strategy will be updated to reflect any additional borrowing. The report will
also need to remind Members about any other property-related projects the
funding of which would have a long-term impact on the budget position.

Financial implications
23. This report considers financial matters.

Legal Implications
24. There are no legal implications arising from the report.

Equality and diversity implications
25. There are no equality and diversity implications arising from this report.

Environmental implications
26. There are no environmental implications arising from this report.

CONTACT: DONNA LINTON, GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE PLANNING
MANAGER
TEL: [01606] 868804
BACKGROUND PAPERS: NONE

Page 69

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
MEETING OF:
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
DATE:
9TH DECEMBER 2020
REPORT OF:
HEAD OF FINANCE
AUTHOR:
WENDY BEBBINGTON
_____________________________________________________________

TREASURY MANAGEMENT – MID YEAR
REPORT 2020-21

SUBJECT:

_____________________________________________________________

Purpose of Report
1.

To update Members on performance against the Authority’s Treasury
Management Strategy (TMS).

Recommended That:
[1]

the report be noted; and

[2]

the requirement to borrow to support the capital programme is
noted.

Background
2.

The first requirement for treasury management is to ensure that the
organisational cash flow is adequately planned with cash being
available when it is needed. Surplus monies are invested in low risk
counter-parties or instruments commensurate with the low risk
appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering
investment return. This means the order of priority for all investment
decisions is Security, Liquidity (access to cash) and then Yield (interest
earned).

3.

The second main function of treasury management is the funding of
capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing
need which is essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure
that capital spending obligations can be met. The management of
longer term cash may involve arranging long or short term loans or by
using longer term cash flow surpluses. On occasion any debt currently
held may be re-structured in line with risk or cost objectives.

4.

Accordingly, treasury management is defined as:
“The management of the authority’s borrowing, investments and cash
flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the
effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the
pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.”

Page 71

5.

In December 2017, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy, (CIPFA), issued revised Prudential and Treasury
Management Codes. As from 2019/20, all local authorities have been
required to prepare a Capital Strategy which is intended to provide the
following:
▫

a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing
and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of
services

▫

an overview of how the associated risk is managed

▫

the implications for future financial sustainability

6.

The associated Code of Practice for Treasury Management
recommends that those charged with governance are updated on
treasury management activities regularly by way of a strategy at the
start of the year, a mid-year review and an outturn report.

7.

The Authority agreed an annual Treasury Management Strategy for
2020/21 on 12 February 2020.

8.

This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s
Code of Practice on Treasury Management, and covers the following:
▫

An economic update for the first part of the 2020/21 financial year;

▫

A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement
(including the Annual Investment Strategy);

▫

The capital expenditure and borrowing position;

▫

A review of the investment portfolio for 2020/21;

▫

A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for
2020/21.

ECONOMIC BACKGROUND
9.

The coronavirus outbreak has done huge economic damage to the UK
and economies around the world. After the Bank of England took
emergency action in March to cut Bank Rate to first 0.25%, and then to
0.10%, it left Bank Rate unchanged at its meeting on 6th August (and
at the subsequent September and November meetings), although
some forecasters had suggested that a cut into negative territory could
happen.

10.

The Governor of the Bank of England, however, has made it clear that
he currently thinks that such a move would do more damage than good
and that more quantitative easing is the favoured tool if further action
becomes necessary. As shown in the forecast table below, no increase
in Bank Rate is expected within the forecast horizon ending on 31st
March 2023 as economic recovery is expected to be only gradual and,
therefore, prolonged.

Page 72

11.

As for inflation itself, the Bank of England forecast that there would be
excess demand in the economy by Q3 2022 causing CPI inflation to
rise above the 2% target in Q3 2022, (based on market interest rate
expectations for a further loosening in policy). Nevertheless, even if the
Bank were to leave policy unchanged, inflation was still projected to be
above 2% in 2023.

12.

The fall in GDP in the first half of 2020 was revised from 28% to 23%
(subsequently revised to -21.8%). This is still one of the largest falls in
output of any developed nation. However, it is only to be expected as
the UK economy is heavily influenced by consumer-facing services –
an area which was particularly vulnerable to being damaged by
lockdown and Brexit uncertainties.

13.

The peak in the unemployment rate was revised down from 9% in Q2
to 7½% by Q4 2020.

14.

The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably
relatively even, but is subject to major uncertainty due to the Covid-19
virus. There is relatively little UK domestic risk of increases or
decreases in Bank Rate or of significant changes in shorter term PWLB
rates. The Bank of England has effectively ruled out the use of
negative interest rates in the near term and increases in Bank Rate are
likely to be some years away given the underlying economic
expectations. However, it is always possible that safe haven flows, due
to unexpected domestic developments and those in other major
economies, could impact gilt yields, (and so PWLB rates), in the UK.

15.

A summary of projected interest rates is provided in the table below.

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT UPDATE
16.

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) was approved
by the Authority on 12 February 2020. There are no policy changes to
the TMSS; the details in this report update the position in the light of
the updated economic position and budgetary changes already
approved.

Page 73

CAPITAL PROGRAMME & BORROWING
17.

In preparing the capital programme, attention is given to understanding
the potential liabilities and risks associated with the expenditure and
funding of the annual capital programme. In particular, the combined
impact on the overall financial position of the Authority in terms of
revenue and capital budgets, to ensure that such activity remains
proportionate. There is a relationship in anticipating that borrowing will
be required to fund the capital programme and the associated Minimum
Revenue Provision and Interest Payable revenue costs.

18.

The table below provides an indication of the capital programme, the
resulting amount of annual borrowing required and the associated
revenue financing costs over the current and next 3 years.

Table 1: Capital Expenditure
Forecasts

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£000
£000
£000
£000

Forecast Capital Programme
To be funded by new borrowing
(estimate)

14,784

5,588

6,354

1,378

6,403

4,000

0

0

408

975

1,169

1,145

Estimated associated revenue cost
of existing plus new borrowing
(MRP & Interest Payable)
19.

The Authority had a loan portfolio of £1.012m at 31 October 2020, with
plans to borrow a further £11m early in 2021/22.

20.

Historically the Authority has financed the majority of its capital
programme from reserves and capital grants. Looking ahead, it seems
certain that there will be no future capital grant funding for fire
authorities and capital reserves are now fully committed to the existing
programme.

21.

As a result, any future new or additional approval of capital expenditure
over and above the currently planned programme, will need to be
funded by further new borrowing. This will be in addition to the £11m
already approved.

22.

In addition, the ongoing requirement to fund an annual capital
programme for essential vehicle, equipment and technology
replacements beyond the current financial planning period will also
require the Authority to enter into new external borrowing and to make
suitable revenue budget provision.

23.

In view of the temporarily high level of reserves, the approved Treasury
Management Strategy deferred placing the actual £11m borrowing
required for the Training Centre project until 2021/22 as a prudent
approach given that limited investment return on in-year surplus cash
flow and counter-party risk are still issues that need to be considered.

Page 74

24.

The Authority therefore currently remains in an under-borrowed
position, which means that expenditure has been temporarily internally
financed as opposed to externally borrowed. The position at 31 March
2021 is temporarily anticipated to be c£12m under-borrowed until the
new planned external borrowing is taken.

25.

At this point maintaining longer term under-borrowing at a target level
of c£3m going forward is considered to be manageable and a sensible
position in view of poor returns that can be achieved on cash balances
invested versus the cost of borrowing. The cashflow impact will
however be kept under continual review and it may well be necessary
to reduce target under-borrowing as cash reserves reduce due to
ongoing budget pressures and as capital reserves are used to fund the
currently approved major build and modernisation projects.

26.

As previously approved, borrowing will be secured in line with this
requirement at the most advantageous time based on consultation with
appointed Treasury Management Advisors and the Authority’s
Treasurer.

27.

The following tables show the actual debt maturity profile of current
borrowing as at 31 October 2020 and a comparison with approved
Upper and Lower Limits.

Loan Repayment Profile
500

400
300

200
100
2027

2025

2024

0

Table 2 Maturity Structure of Borrowing

Under 12 months
12 months and within 24 months
24 months and within 5 years
5 years and 10 years
10 years and above
Total

Amount

Upper
Limit
%

Lower
Limit
%

Actual
31/10/20
%

50

0

0

£000
0

50

0

0

0

50

0

88

893

75

0

12

119

100

5

0

0

100

1,012

Page 75

28.

This indicator is designed to be a control over an authority having large
concentrations of fixed rate debt having to be replaced at times of
uncertainty over interest rates. The limits set represent sensible
boundaries and are intended to draw attention to potential issues
before they arise.

29.

The actual maturity structure for borrowing falls temporarily outside the
agreed profile, as can be seen in Table 2. However, as the Authority
has such relatively low levels of borrowing and currently has such a
healthy investment position, this is not considered to be a material risk.
Over recent years, the Authority has not required any new additional
borrowing and has not therefore been easily able to influence the
maturity structure.

30.

Advice has again been sought from the Authority’s Treasury
Management advisors who suggest that opportunities have been very
limited in the current economic climate given the consequent structure
of interest rates, and following the increase in the margin added to gilt
yields which has impacted PWLB new borrowing rates since 2010. No
debt rescheduling has therefore been undertaken or is anticipated in
the current financial year.

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO 2020/21
31.

The Annual Investment Strategy has the priorities of security, liquidity
and yield. The aim to achieve the optimum yield within the approved
investment counter-parties which are scrutinised regularly for
creditworthiness within the security principle. Liquidity is achieved
within the forecast spending profile and cashflows.

32.

The Authority’s cash balances are reducing significantly, despite the
temporary positive cash flow implications of receiving annual
Firefighters Pension Government Grant in July each year, as progress
is made towards delivery of the currently approved strategic building
projects. Clearly this results in reduced investment income received.

33.

Alongside this, in the current climate it is impossible to generate
significant levels of investment income due to the 0.10% base rate
leading to available investment rates with suitable counterparties being
barely above zero. Interest on balances earned to date is however
£42k to 31 October, with final 2020/21 outturn currently forecast to be
around £55k (£244k 2019/20) compared with the annual budget (£60k)
for investment income in 2020/21.

34.

This is in part due to the current under-borrowing position discussed
above which has resulted in savings on loan interest payable that more
than offsets lower interest earned on cash balances.

35.

The Authority has continued with a cautious approach to its choice of
counterparties. As at 31 October 2020, the Authority’s investments
were with Aberdeen Standard Liquidity Money Market Fund,

Page 76

Santander, and NatWest, all of which are used regularly along with
Bank of Scotland to manage day to day cashflows.
Investments 31/10/2020
Aberdeen Standard
Santander UK
Natwest
Total
36.

£’000
8,190
4,000
1,639
13,829

There have been no known instances of non-compliance with approved
Annual Investment Strategy limits during the year.

REVIEW OF COMPLIANCE WITH PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS
37.

It is a statutory duty for those charged with governance to determine
and keep under review a range of prudential indicators and treasury
limits. During the financial year to date, treasury management
activities have operated within the approved indicators and limits and in
compliance with the Treasury Management Practices. The following
table compares the estimated performance on key prudential indicators
in 2020/21 against those approved by the Authority in February 2020.

Table 3: Prudential and Treasury Indicators
2020/21
2020/21
Prudential Indicators
Indicator
Revised
Comment
Estimate
£000
£000
Capital expenditure
Capital Financing
Requirement
Annual change in capital
financing requirement
Gross borrowing requirement:
(Under) / Over borrowing
Ratio of financing costs to net
revenue stream
Treasury Indicators

Authorised limit for external
debt
Operational boundary for
external debt
Actual external debt
- Borrowing
- Other long term liabilities
Total

Re-profiling/timing of major
estate projects expenditure.

14,095

14,784

12,793

12,794

5,986

5,987

(11,781)

(11,782)

0.77%

0.91%

2020/21
Indicator
£000

2020/21
Revised
Estimate
£000

3,212

3,212

1,162

1,162

1,012
0
1,012

1,012 Approved borrowing remains
planned for 2021/22.
0
1,012

Page 77

Set 12/2/20, no change
planned during 2020/21.

Table 3: Prudential and Treasury Indicators
Upper limit of fixed interest
100%
100%
rate exposure
Upper limit of variable interest
No variable rate loans held
25%
0%
rate exposure
or planned
Upper limit for principal sums
No longer term investments
£5m
£nil
invested for over 365 days
held or planned.

Financial Implications
38.

The subject of this report is financial.

Legal Implications
39.

The Local Government Act 2003 and the associated CIPFA Code of
Practice for Treasury Management recommends that those charged
with governance are updated on treasury management activities
regularly by way of a strategy at the start of the year, a mid-year review
and an outturn report.

Equality & Diversity Implications
40.

There are no known equality and diversity issues arising from this
report.

Environmental Implications
41.

There are no known environmental issues arising from this report.

CONTACT: DEMOCRATIC SERVICES, CLEMONDS HEY, WINSFORD
TEL [01606] 868804
BACKGROUND PAPERS: NONE

Page 78

Agenda Item 4
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
MEETING OF:
DATE:
REPORT OF:
AUTHOR:

CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
9TH DECEMBER 2020
DIRECTOR OF TRANSFORMATION
LAWRENCE HOWARD

SUBJECT:

MENTAL HEALTH STRATEGY 2021-2025

Purpose of Report
1.

This report sets out the background to the Service’s approach to mental health
and wellbeing and seeks approval to publish the Mental Health Strategy 20212025.

Recommended: That
[1]

the Mental Health Strategy 2021 – 2025 be considered and approved.

Background
2.

In today’s increasingly complex and fast-paced world there is a general concern
about the pressures in people’s lives that can have an impact on mental health
and wellbeing. The nature of the work carried out by firefighters and fire staff
means that they will be exposed to traumatic and challenging situations.

3.

The Service’s ambition for mental health is simple; to maintain a healthy and
productive workforce treating mental health with the same passion and drive as
is afforded to physical health.

4.

Through the Service’s commitment to making mental health a corporate priority
and by it encouraging all staff to take responsibility for positive mental health,
the Service believe that staff will be able to remain mentally fit and function
effectively in their roles with a positive sense of connection with others.

5.

The Mental Health strategy describes how the Service will support the mental
health and wellbeing of staff through education, leadership, and access to
positive and professional support. It also describes how the Service intends to
mainstream mental health awareness and how the culture will promote the
ability of staff to speak out openly about mental health concerns without
judgement.

Page 79

Information
6.

To date, the Service has put in place a number of interventions which have
raised awareness and placed heightened emphasis on the mental health
support available to staff.

7.

In 2019 the Fire Authority approved the establishment of a dedicated Mental
Health Advisor and in October 2020 a Mental Health Steering Group was
created to provide leadership, advice and coordination of the work required to
progress and support the Service’s aspiration to be a beacon of excellence for
mental health in the workplace.

8.

Underpinning the delivery of the Mental Health Strategy will be an action plan
that will be reviewed by the Mental Health Steering Group on a quarterly basis.
Bi-annual updates on progress will also be presented to the Performance and
Overview Committee.

9.

The Mental Health Strategy (Appendix 1 to this report) has 4 key elements:

10.

-

Leadership and Responsibility
The achievement and maintenance of positive mental health across the
Service will be the responsibility of all staff, with visible senior leadership
commitment and everyone encouraged to take responsibility for their own
mental health and wellbeing.

-

Communication and Education
The prioritisation of good mental health and wellbeing will be achieved through
delivering a systematic programme of engagement, promotion and education.

-

Support and Intervention
Support and development of interventions to improve mental health will be
delivered with emphasis on increasing organisational confidence, skills and
capability in addressing risks and dealing with mental health issues.

-

Culture and Compassion
An open, positive and compassionate culture around mental health will be
created to increase awareness and accountability whilst ensuring the work
environment supports a reduction in the exacerbation of existing mental health
problems and concerns.
Pages 12–16 of the Strategy outline the aspirations and some of the actions
that relate to these elements.

Page 80

Financial Implications
11.

There are costs associated with the delivery of the Mental Health Strategy
specifically in relation to extending the network of qualified Mental Health First
Aiders and Trauma Risk Management Practitioners.

12.

These costs are incorporated within the 2020/2021 budget bidding process
which will be considered by the Fire Authority in February 2021.

Legal Implications
13.

In developing the Mental Health Strategy, the Service is mindful of its legal duty
to address any issues in the workplace that could lead to mental ill health. The
Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 requires the Service to ensure that it takes
measures to control any risks of stress and under the Management of Health
and Safety at Work Regulations 1999, it is required to assess the risk of stressrelated ill health arising from work activities.

14.

The Health and Safety Executive (HSE) also expects the Service to carry out
suitable and sufficient risk assessments for stress, and to take action to tackle
any problems identified by that risk assessment. The HSE’s Management
Standards outlined on page 7 of the Strategy define the characteristics, or
culture, of an organisation where the risks from work-related stress are being
effectively managed and controlled. These factors have been incorporated into
a wellbeing risk assessment that the Service will be requiring managers to
undertake in the planning stages of all future change programmes

Equality and Diversity Implications
15.

The Equality Act 2010 requires the Service to make reasonable adjustments for
staff with a mental health condition.

16.

The ageing workforce also places more emphasis on creating a healthy
workforce to sustain an older population of staff who may have greater health
needs in the workplace. The Wellbeing Impact Assessment and Equality Impact
Assessment will identify any relevant implications..

Environmental Implications
17.

None identified.

CONTACT: DONNA LINTON, GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE PLANNING
MANAGER
TEL [01606] 868804
BACKGROUND PAPERS: NONE

Page 81

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
MEETING OF:
DATE:
REPORT OF:
AUTHOR:

FIRE AUTHORITY
9TH DECEMBER 2020
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
MARK CASHIN

SUBJECT:

SERVICE MANAGEMENT TEAM STRUCTURAL
REVIEW

Purpose of Report
1.

To provide Members with information about the outcomes of a review of the
Service Management Team (SMT) structure.

2.

To give Members an opportunity to consider the recommendations from the
review and to allow them to determine the way forward.

Recommended: That Members
[1]

Approve the establishment of the role of Deputy Chief Fire Officer and
the removal of one Assistant Chief Fire Officer post
[Note: The creation of any role that attracts a salary package of more
than £100,000 must be approved by a vote of Members];

[2]

Approve the changes to the Constitution set out in Appendix 2 to
enable the recruitment of the Deputy Chief Fire Officer to take place;

[3]

Agree an increase in budgeted hours for the Section 151 Officer
(Treasurer) role to allow the postholder to work up to two and a half
days per week;

[4]

Note the way that the Director of Transformation role is to be
redefined and intention to ultimately remove the role.

[5]

Support the removal of the Head of Prevention post, with the
responsibilities being combined with another function.

Background
3.

The current SMT structure has been in place since 2018. It is shown in the
diagram below. The team comprises 9 full time posts and a part-time Section
151 Officer (Treasurer) currently contracted one day per week – 0.2 full time
equivalent (FTE). The currently budgeted SMT structure is 9.2 FTE.

Page 83

4.

The decision to conduct a review of the structure of SMT was discussed and
agreed by the Brigade Managers’ Pay and Performance Committee during the
Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive’s interim appraisal in October 2019.

5.

The rationale for the review revolved around a number of risks associated with
an ageing workforce, pensions tax charges, and the stark reality that by 2023
a significant number of the existing Principal Officers, Area Managers and
Group Managers will have reached or passed one of the indicators of eligibility
to retire. By 2025 this risk will have escalated to the point where all members
of SMT will be eligible to retire which could potentially result in a turnover of
100% over the next five years.

6.

This is not a position that is unique to Cheshire as many UK fire and rescue
services are facing the same scenario. Due to historic peaks and troughs in
recruitment at a national level, there are high levels of turnover at the Principal
Officer level and this has created a situation where many services are
competing against each other to recruit the best people at a similar time.

7.

The tax implications of pension annual allowances have also precipitated a
number of senior exits and this has compounded the problem and heightened
the risk of losing experienced senior staff.

8.

The current situation has prompted UK fire and rescue services to place
heightened emphasis on talent management and culture change. This is
already an area of priority and good practice within the Service, but work
needs to continue as there is no “quick fix” for overcoming the risks
associated with an ageing workforce.

Page 84

9.

The findings of the review were presented to Staffing Committee on 16th
November 2020 and it was supportive of the recommendations which are set
out in this report.

Information
Review Findings and Recommendations
10.

The independent review of the SMT structure was commissioned in July
2020. It was carried out by RealWorldHR Limited. The review team was
charged with assessing a key question: is the Service Management Team
structure fit for purpose and sustainable? The review took into account
national benchmarking, a study of the Service’s retirement profile, a review of
the pensions landscape and a data gathering exercise that involved
interviewing every member of the current SMT. The review team was mindful
of the challenges that lay ahead for the Service. The next two paragraphs
provide an overview of the outcome of the review.

11.

The review came to a number of conclusions:




The SMT organisational design works well.
Portfolios of the Heads of Departments fit broadly with the strategic aims
and ambitions of the Service and Authority.
Members of SMT are positive about each other and the Chief Fire
Officer and all appear loyal to the Service. They are keen to do the right
thing and will do what they can to make things work with each other.

Therefore, the review concluded that wholescale changes to SMT were not
required.
12.

The review did, however, highlight some issues:




The potential impact of retirements due to the age profile of SMT (and
managers outside SMT) and therefore the pressing need for succession
planning
Capacity pressures in some areas which could lead to concerns about
effectiveness and wellbeing
The need to further embed the Blue Light Collaboration arrangements

As a result, the review suggested a number of recommendations aimed at
putting the Service in the best possible position.
12.

The review confirmed that the retirement profile for the Service creates a
significant risk. Currently two of the three Principal Officers are eligible to
retire. In fact, one of these, the Assistant Chief Fire Officer, will be retiring in
Spring 2021.

Page 85

13.

In addition to this by 2023, two of the three Area Managers, and five of the
eight Group Managers in the tier below will have reached or passed one of
the indicators of eligibility to retire. In addition to this, by 2025, all Directors,
Principal Officers and Area Managers are expected to be in a position to
retire.

14.

The review also identified that the current Principal Officer arrangement is out
of kilter with most other fire and rescue services who largely operate with the
traditional structure of Chief Fire Officer, Deputy Chief Fire Officer and
Assistant Chief Fire Officer. Appendix 1 to this report shows a breakdown of
the arrangements in other fire and rescue services.

15.

The decision to increase from two to three Principal Officers in 2018 was an
important step as it has provided greater capacity to promote the staff
engagement agenda and this has led to positive culture change. However,
the review concluded that a more traditional structure (Chief, Deputy Chief
and Assistant Chief) would improve resilience and potentially aid succession
planning.

16.

In looking at individual roles the review identified that there were a number of
areas where there were concerns about capacity, which could hinder the
effectiveness of individuals and the ability of the Service to progress key
priorities. For example, the Section 151 Officer post was highlighted as an
example of this where the existing contracted hours were insufficient to
realistically sustain the current workload. The Director of Governance and
Commissioning post also had such a broad range of responsibilities that it
was difficult to provide the required amount of focus in some areas, e.g. the
Blue Light Collaboration arrangements. It could also have an impact on the
postholder’s ability to fulfil his role as Monitoring Officer.

17.

The review highlighted the significant amount of work required in the future
around workforce reform which requires dedicated resource and time. The
review also suggests that it would be sensible to bring together workforce
planning and functional value for money and efficiency/effectiveness reviews
to capitalise and create new ways of working that support increased
productivity and behaviour change.

18.

The review also considered whether there were opportunities for potential
savings and more cohesive working arrangements by combining functional
areas. It concluded that the Head of Prevention role could be removed with
the responsibilities being subsumed into another functional area, or areas.

19.

Finally, the review highlighted the need to further develop SMT’s relationship
with the joint teams that support the Service as part of the Blue Light
Collaboration arrangements.

Page 86

20.

The review makes four recommendations.

Recommendation 1 – Establish the post of Deputy Chief Fire Officer (DCFO)
and remove one of the Assistant Chief Fire Officer (ACFO) posts
21.

This will provide three levels of development at Principal Officer level and as a
structure will help to mitigate some of the risks identified.

22.

The establishment of the DCFO post would improve strategic capacity and
resilience and the CFO could be released from some of the detail whilst still
having assurance that planning, performance and policy was being driven at a
senior level.

23.

It is recommended that this post could be established by removing the
upcoming ACFO vacancy from the establishment and reinvesting the money
into the creation of the DCFO post.

24.

If approved it is proposed that recruitment to this post would commence in
December 2020, with the process designed to enable the Service to appoint
to an ACFO post as well as the new DCFO post given the potential for an
internal appointment.

Recommendation 2 – Increase the contractual hours of the Section 151 Officer
post.
25.

When the joint finance department was created two years ago the Service
made a conscious decision to maintain an independent Section 151 Officer
and speculated that the work could be undertaken based on a contract
equating to one day per week. Notwithstanding this, the successful candidate
was asked to work two days per week from the outset and has done so ever
since. This was always intended to be a temporary arrangement which could
be reviewed when the joint finance department was settled, utilising one
financial system and had processes that had been streamlined and simplified.
The arrangement has continued, because the joint finance department
continues to run two different financial systems and has been hampered in
making the progress that was hoped. This situation is unlikely to change in
the near future, although it remains an aspiration.

26.

The review concluded that a part-time Section 151 Officer works with
something of a disadvantage. The postholder needs to have sufficient access
to senior officers as well as colleagues in the joint finance department, which
is difficult working part time. For example, the postholder cannot attend all
necessary meetings.

Page 87

27.

The review recognised this challenge and proposed that the budget to cover
the contracted hours of the Section 151 Officer be increased in order to allow
for the post to be expanded up to two and a half days per week.

Recommendation 3 – Redefine the Role of the Director of Transformation with
a view to it delivering a culture change programme that could see the role
phased out in 3 years.
28.

This recommendation revolves around the development of a culture change
programme that is intended to be delivered over a three-year period. This will
bring together workforce planning and functional value for money efficiency
and effectiveness reviews and be intended to create new ways of working.

29.

At the start of the Blue Light Collaboration programme the Service identified a
number of work areas/responsibilities that it wished to maintain control over,
e.g. industrial relations, equality and inclusion, and all aspects of talent
management. It was considered that in the future these work
areas/responsibilities would be assigned to the joint HR team but not until the
collaboration was fully embedded and at a point when the Service had
absolute confidence to pass them over.

30.

At this stage it is considered that a formal plan should now be put in place to
transition these work areas/responsibilities across to the joint HR team. It is
important that is managed effectively. This will allow the Service to realise the
benefits of a broad culture change programme and the financial savings
associated with the longer-term collaborative arrangements.

31.

It is intended that the plan the Fire Authority at regular intervals. It is also
envisaged that, at the conclusion of the plan in 2023, the role of Director of
Transformation would no longer be required.

Recommendation 4 – Release the post of Head of Prevention and incorporate
the Prevention function elsewhere in the organisation.
32. This recommendation evolved from discussions with the current postholder. It
would see the removal of post of Head of Prevention, with the responsibilities
absorbed into a function or functions elsewhere in the organisation.
33. Historically the Prevention Team was a combined function with the Protection
Department and this was a structure that worked well. However, there are
various options which are being considered. Further discussion will take
place with SMT colleagues if this recommendation is supported by Members.

Page 88

Financial Implications
34.

There is a financial impact associated with the four recommendations. If they
are all delivered they should release savings of approximately £160,000. The
savings will be delivered over time – see details below:
Year 1
Removal of ACFO post and establishment of DCFO post
Increase in budget for Section 151 Officer post
Removal of Head of Prevention post
Net revenue savings £46,485 plus on costs, circa £60,000
Year 3
Removal of Director of Transformation post
Net revenue savings £77,745 plus on costs, circa £100,000
Total reduction in revenue budget by the end of 3 Year period
£124,230 plus on costs, circa £160,000

Legal Implications
Localism Act
35.

Guidance under section 40 of the Localism Act 2011 sets out the key policy
principles that underpin the pay accountability provisions in the Act. As part of
the drive for accountability, the guidance contains a recommendation that
elected members should be offered the opportunity to vote before salary
packages in excess of £100,000 are offered in respect of a new appointment.
This recommendation has been included in the Authority’s Pay Policy
Statement. This requirement was also added to the responsibilities of the Fire
Authority.

Exit Payment Cap
36.

The Government recently introduce the exit payment cap which applies to
staff working for the Fire Authority. The cap is set at £95,000 and must be
adhered to when handling the departure of staff through redundancy etc.

National Framework
37. The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 2018 includes a
requirement at paragraph 6.10 concerned with the filling of certain posts. It
states: To ensure greater fairness and the exchange of talent and ideas, all
principal officer posts must be open to competition nationally, and fire and
rescue authorities must take account of this in their workforce planning. The
proposed appointment process will comply with the requirement of the National
Framework.

Page 89

Changes to the Constitution
38.

The rules relating to the appointment, appraisal and remuneration of Brigade
Managers are contained in Section 3 of the Authority’s Constitution, “Members
Decision Making Bodies”.

39.

Currently, the Brigade Managers’ Pay and Performance Committee has
responsibility for determining and undertaking the appointment process for the
posts of CFO and ACFO. The Fire Authority appoints the CFO, the Brigade
Managers’ Pay and Performance Committee appoints the ACFO.

40.

Currently, the Brigade Managers’ Pay and Performance Committee determines
the remuneration of the CFO and the ACFO. The committee also reviews the
appraisal of the ACFO.

41.

If the proposal to create the Deputy Chief Fire Officer role is approved, the
responsibilities of the Brigade Managers’ Pay and Performance Committee will
need to be changed to refer to the DCFO appointment and appraisal review.

42.

The proposed changes are shown in red on the extract from Section 3 of the
Constitution which is attached to this report as Appendix 2. References to the
DCFO have been added and some elements have been simplified.

Equality and Diversity Implications
43.

The Service’s talent management programme contains a lot of emphasis on
attracting high calibre individuals into the organisation. All operational and
senior positions will continue to be advertised externally and the Service will
continue to develop positive action campaigns to attract potential employees
from under-represented groups within the communities.

Environmental Implications
44.

None

CONTACT: DONNA LINTON, GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE PLANNING
MANAGER
TEL [01606] 868804
BACKGROUND PAPERS: NONE

Page 90

Family and Region Structures

Appendix 1 to Item 5
Cheshire Fire Authority
9 December 2020

Page 91

Family Group 4

Population

Dwellings

Non-domestic

Structure

Avon
Cheshire
Cleveland
Derbyshire
Essex
Hampshire
H’ford & W’ster
Hertfordshire
Humberside
Kent
Lancashire
Leicestershire
Lincolnshire
N. Ireland
Nottinghamshire
South Wales
Staffordshire
Surrey

1,156,804
1,066,647
569,141
1,059,996
1,846,655
1,849,967
788,587
1,189,519
932,806
1,860,111
1,508,941
1,100,306
761,224
1,893,700
1,161,124
1,543,293
1,135,935
1,196,236

465,483
456,433
249,221
455,411
773,329
744,099
349,300
477,032
411,010
750,000
662,190
420,802
338,700
703,300
477,974
667,529
445,779
486,540

33,666
33,522
16,460
32,066
50,378
51,278
42,100
31,158
30,000
55,000
52,350
45,000
25,502
72,500
31,701
45,993
32,032
33,290

CFO – [DCFO – currently temp director] – ACFO x2
CFO – ACFO x2 – Directors x2
CFO - ACFO - AM x2 - Directors
CFO – DCFO – Directors – AM x3
CEx – DCFO – ACFO x2 - Directors
CFO – DCFO - ACFO x2 - Director
CFO – DCFO - ACFO - Director

Service
Cheshire
Greater Manchester
Merseyside
Lancashire
Cumbria

Population
1,066,647
2,835,686
1,429,910
1,508,941
500,012

CFO – DCFO – ACFO x2 - Director
CFO – DCFO - (Exec) Director
CEO – Director (ACFO) – Directors x2 (Support) CFO – DCFO - ACFO – Directors x2
CFO – ACFO x3 & AM x2
CFO - DFCO - ACFO
CFO - ACFO x3- Directors x2
CFO – DCFO – ACFO
CFO – DCO - ACFO x2 – Director x2
CFO – DCFO – Directors (support x1, AM x2)
CFO – DCFO – ACFO x2

Structure
CFO–ACFOs x2–Directors x2 – HoDs x4 (+9 BLC)
CFO-DCFO-ACFO x3-Director x2
CFO-DCFO-ACFO-Directors x3–AM x5
CFO-DCFO-ACFO-Directors x2- HoDs x14
CFO-DCFO-AM x4

Out of the 21
services listed in
the family group
or in the region
only 4 do not
have a Deputy
Chief Fire Officer.
Some FRS have
returned to have
a Deputy Chief
Fire Officer
within their
brigade
management
role structure.

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2 to Item 5
Cheshire Fire Authority
9 December 2020

RESPONSIBILITIES OF BRIGADE MANAGERS’ PAY AND PERFORMANCE
COMMITTEE
3.67

To determine and undertake the appointment process for the posts of Chief
Fire Officer and Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Fire Officer and Assistant Chief
Fire Officer.

3.68 To appraise the Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive.
3.69 To determine the remuneration of the Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive.
3.70 To appoint to the roles of an Deputy Chief Fire Officer and Assistant Chief
Fire Officer.
3.71 To review the appraisal of an the Deputy Chief Fire Officer and Assistant
Chief Fire Officer.
3.72 To determine the remuneration of an Assistant Chief Fire Officer.
Paragraph 3.72 can be removed as remuneration of the Deputy Chief Fire
Officer and Assistant Chief Fire Officer is set by reference to the remuneration
of the Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive (referred to as ‘gearing’)
3.73

To determine (in accordance with the relevant policies and procedures) HR/IR
matters concerning/affecting the Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive,
Deputy Chief Fire Officer and Assistant Chief Fire Officer.

Page 93

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
MEETING OF:
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
DATE:
9TH DECEMBER 2020
REPORT OF:
DIRECTOR OF GOVERNANCE AND COMMISSIONING
AUTHOR:
DONNA LINTON
_____________________________________________________________

SUBJECT:

MEMBER TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME 2020-21

_____________________________________________________________

Purpose of Report
1.

This paper presents the proposed Member Training and Development
Programme 2020-21 for approval.

Recommended: That
[1]

the Member Training and Development Programme for 2020-21 be
approved; and

[2]

progress against the delivery of the Member Training and Development
Programme for 2020-21 be noted.

Background
2.

The Member Training and Development Programme is approved by the Fire
Authority each year. A copy of the proposed Programme is attached as
Appendix 1 to this report.

3.

Due to COVID-19 restrictions, Member Training and Development sessions
between March and July 2020 were postponed as the technology was not
in place at that time to facilitate virtual sessions.

Member Training and Development Programme for 2020-21
4.

The proposed Member Development Programme covers the generic
training and development sessions scheduled for 2020-21. It also
incorporates the induction programme for new Members and some core
modules that have been identified in Members’ Personal Development
Reviews (PDRs).

5.

Most Members have completed a PDR in 2020-21 and the outcomes of the
training needs analysis have been discussed by the Member Training and
Development Group and fed into the Programme, where appropriate.

6.

There were a number of development needs identified by Members which
the Member Training and Development Group felt were extremely relevant
for the wider Fire Authority audience (Social Media and Generic IT skills)

Page 95

and development opportunities based on these needs has been
incorporated into the 2020-21programme.
7.

Democratic Services will continue to work with the Leadership Development
Adviser to develop a programme for delivery of individual training needs
based on priority.

8.

Some training and development sessions have taken place. However, due
to the COVID-19 restrictions a number of sessions had to be postponed.
This included the Members Planning Day in April, Social Media and
Information Management training sessions and an interactive Member
Induction session. A tour of the new Training Centre has also been
postponed.

9.

Since June a number of virtual Member Training and Development Training
session have taken place which have included the following:
-

Individual Skype Training – June/July 2020
Virtual Members Planning Days – June, September and November 2020
Virtual Equality and Diversity Training – October/November 2020

10.

Members have been invited to attend conferences which have taken place,
including the Mental Health Virtual Conference held in October and the
Proud to Provide Virtual Conference held in November 2020.

11.

Members have also been provided with information on external virtual
training sessions which have been arranged by the Local Government
Association E-Learning Hub and North West Employers.

Financial Implications
12. The cost of delivering the programme has been met from within the existing
budget allocated for Member training and development.

Legal Implications
13. There are no specific legal implications arising from this report. However,
Member training and development is important as it can help Members to
understand the statutory responsibilities of the Fire Authority.

Equality and Diversity Implications
14. There are no specific equality and diversity implications arising from this
report however, Members are offered equality and diversity training during the
Programme.

Environmental Implications
15. There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report.

Page 96

CONTACT: DONNA LINTON, CHESHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE HQ,
WINSFORD
TEL [01606] 868804
BACKGROUND PAPERS:
MEMBER TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME 2019-20 APPROVED BY THE FIRE AUTHORITY ON 19TH JUNE
2019

Page 97

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 to Item 6
Cheshire Fire Authority
9 December 2020

Page 99

MEMBER TRAINING
AND DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME
2020/21

MEMBERS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME
2020/2021
DATE

2020
June – July

Page 100

10 June

EVENT

SUBJECT

OBJECTIVE

NOTES

Individual
Skype
Training

Testing the capabilities of Skype
functions

To ensure Skype was functioning on
Members’ devices and train Members
how to use their new equipment.

All Member
event

Planning
Briefing

Inform Members of the remote
meeting procedure

To inform Members of the newly
implemented remote meeting
procedure.

All Member
event

To provide an update for the IRMP.
26 June

Induction
Session

Initial welcome and induction session
hosted by the CFO/CE:
Welcome and overview of Cheshire
Fire and Rescue Service
Core functions of the Fire Authority
and the Constitution

4 September Planning Day

Overview of CFRS and the IRMP

To provide an overview of Cheshire
Fire and Rescue Service and
introduce new Members to the
Service Management Team.

For new
Members

To provide an overview of the Fire
Authority and the
roles/responsibilities of new
Members.
To engage with Members on the
development of the future direction of
the Service

16 Members
attended

LINKS TO
CORE
VALUES

Page 101

11
September

Visit

Safety Central

To visit the purpose built facility
dedicated to public safety – to learn
how to stay safe by experiencing a
range of hazards in realistic learning
zones that simulate the environments
in which injury and harm are most
likely to occur.

2 Members
attended

October November

Induction
Session/
Refresher

Equality and Diversity Training
Sessions

To provide an overview of the
Service’s approach to promoting
equality, diversity and inclusion.

11 Members
attended

20
November

Planning Day

IRMP Update

To engage with Members on the
development of the future direction of
the Service.

22 Members
attended

DATE

EVENT

SUBJECT

OBJECTIVE

NOTES

2021
15 January

Planning Day

Budget Update
IRMP Update

Presentation on the Medium Term
Financial Position including business
cases and budget bids for growth and
efficiency items. Draft Capital
programme and reserve position and
IRMP Update.

All Member
event

Visit

A Day in the Life of a Firefighter

Members to visit the Training Centre
whilst it is fully operational. To
provisionally include an overview of:- Breathing apparatus set training

All Member
event

January
(TBC)

LINKS TO
CORE
VALUES

-

Road traffic collision
demonstration
A fire house exercise
Lunch with the trainee firefighters

Page 102

January –
February
(TBC)

Visit / Virtual
(TBC)

North West Fire Control

Visit to North West Fire Control
including a presentation on the work
undertaken, demonstration and tour
of the building.

All Member
event

24 February
(at the rise
of the
Performance
& Overview
Committee)
TBC

Risk
Management
and Internal
Audit

Overview of the Service’s approach
to managing risk and an introduction
to MIAA.

To understand how the Service
manages risk and the internal audit
process.

All Member
event

Visit

Tour of the Training Centre and
Workshops

To provisionally include:
- A tour and demonstration of the
Incident Command Training Suite
and new facilities
A tour of the workshops department
and meet the team

All Member
event

April
(TBC)

Planning Day

Update on the MTFP

Be Inclusive
Do the Right Thing

All Member
event

KEY TO CORE VALUES
Act with Compassion
Make a Difference

Other training and development sessions to be arranged for 2020/21:
Information Management Briefing – Information leaflet provided

Training/Development from Personal Development Reviews
Train
: Training/Development associated with Committees
To be included in the MD programme for 2020/21:
Communications – Social Media training and handling the
press
Officers are aiming to provide guidance by Winter 2020.
Tour of Workshops
Included in the Programme for 2020/21 (see above).
Information Management guidance
Guidance was emailed to Members in November 2020.

Page 103

Overview of Human Resources
Overview of the People Strategy, Steps Programme, Institute of
Fire Engineering Examinations – date TBC.
Training/Development associated with Member Champion
Roles
Included on the table of Member Champion Roles circulated to
Members in June (ahead of the AGM).
Note: Democratic Services will liaise directly with individual
Members regarding individual PDR training requests.

Dates to be arranged as part of the Committee timetable if
required:Governance and Constitution Committee:
Briefings when required
29th July - Remoting Meeting Procedure Briefing
Performance and Overview Committee:
Briefings when required
TBC – Risk Management
Brigade Manager Pay and Performance Committee and
Staffing Committee:
Briefings when required
Estates and Property Committee:
Briefings when required
Joint Consultative Committee:
Briefings when required

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
MEETING OF:
DATE:
REPORT OF:
AUTHOR:

CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY
9 DECEMBER 2020
DIRECTOR OF GOVERNANCE AND COMMISSIONING
DONNA LINTON

SUBJECT:

MEMBER DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 2019-21

Purpose of Report
1.

To consider the draft Member Development Strategy for 2019-21 for approval.

Recommended: That
[1]

The Member Development Strategy for 2019-21 be approved.

Background
2.

The Member Training and Development Group (MTDG) works with officers to
determine the future direction of member training and development and
ensures that member training and development programmes align with the
Authority’s Member Development Strategy and meet Members’ and the
Service’s needs.

3.

The Member Development Strategy sets out how the Fire Authority will further
develop its elected Members to ensure that they are effective in fulfilling their
roles and responsibilities. It provides a structured framework for the delivery of
the Member Development and Induction Programme, future Member support
and training and development and promotes continuous improvement.

Information
4.

The MTDG met on 6th October 2020 to consider the content and format of the
draft Member Development Strategy for 2019-20.

5.

The implementation of the Member Development Strategy for 2019-20 was
impacted by Covid-19 which led to the postponement and cancellation of
meetings of the MTDG.

6.

Due to the delay in approving the Strategy this year the MTDG recently agreed
to extend the Member Development Strategy 2019-20 until June 2021 to cover
a 2 year period.

Page 105

7.

The MTDG agreed that the Member Development Strategy covering the period
from June 2019 to June 2021 should focus on maintaining the current training
and development arrangements and also seek to introduce more virtual training
opportunities, wherever possible.

8.

A copy of the draft Member Development Strategy 2019-21 is attached to this
report as Appendix 1 for Members to review.

9.

The MTDG proposed that the next iteration Member Development Strategy
should cover the period from June 2021 to June 2023 and should be approved
by the Fire Authority at it’s meeting in June 2021.

Financial Implications
10.

The costs of implementing the Member Development Strategy will be met from
within the budget. The budget has recently been reduced as a result of the
Service-wide review of departmental budgets to identify savings. However, this
has brought it into line with the actual annual spend, so training and
development should not be affected.

11.

The Strategy should assist in ensuring that resources are used efficiently to
maintain the delivery of an effective Member Training and Development
Programme that has been developed to meet Members’ needs in order that
they can carry out their roles and responsibilities for the Authority. The need for
any additional training resources will be monitored during the year.

Legal Implications
12.

There are no specific legal implications arising from this report. However
Member training and development is important in helping Members to make
decisions that ensure the Fire Authority meets its statutory requirements.

Equality and Diversity Implications
13.

An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed. There are no specific
Equality and Diversity implications. However Equality and Diversity Training
for Members is now included in the Induction Programme for new Members to
be carried out within the first 6 months of them joining the Authority and as a
core module on the Member Training and Development Programme.

Environmental Implications
14.

There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report.
Environmental Awareness Training for Members is now included in the
Induction Programme for new Members and updates will be considered for
inclusion in future Member Training and Development Programmes.

Page 106

CONTACT: DONNA LINTON, DEMOCRATIC SERVICES, CLEMONDS HEY,
WINSFORD
TEL [01606] 868804
BACKGROUND PAPERS:
MEMBER DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 2018-19
APPROVED BY THE FIRE AUTHORITY ON 12TH DECEMBER 2018

Page 107

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 to Item 7
Cheshire Fire Authority
9 December 2020

Member Development Strategy
2019-21

Page 109

Cheshire Fire Authority
Member Development Strategy
2019- 2021

Contents

1.

Introduction

2.

Aims of the Strategy

3.

Key Objectives

3.1

Members Personal Development Plans

3.2

Review of Personal Development Review Process

3.3

Delivery of Member Development Programme

3.4

Delivery of Member Induction Programme

3.5

Role of Member Champions

3.5

Continuous Development

4.

Role of Member Training and Development Group

5.

Implementation and Review of the Strategy

6.

Outcomes

Appendices
A.

Implementation Plan

Page 110

1. Introduction
The Member Development Strategy provides the framework for future Member
support and development and forms the basis of an effective Member Induction
Programme.
The Strategy aims to make a contribution to achieving the Service’s Vision and
the key aims and organisational objectives of the Integrated Risk Management
Plan (IRMP). Members are an integral part of the progress made towards
achieving the Service’s Vision and it is important to ensure that Members are
equipped with the skills required to fulfil this role.
The 2019-21 Strategy will continue to focus on continuous development and
improvement with consideration given to review the provision in light of the impact
of changes to the Authority’s membership.

2. Aims of the Strategy
The overall aim of the Strategy is to ensure that all Members have access and
undertake adequate training and development opportunities to better enable them
to fulfil their roles and responsibilities as Fire Authority Members and to engage
and have an impact on their communities through this role.
Key aims include:
 Provision of a clear framework for the development of Members
based upon their individual needs and the needs of the Authority as a
whole;
 Ensuring Members have the skills and knowledge necessary to meet
their needs to fulfil their roles and are fully aware of their
responsibilities and accountabilities;
 To support the continued development of Members;
 To ensure a consistent approach to Member development.
The Strategy confirms the Authority’s commitment to learning and development
for Members and sets out some of the main activities that will be undertaken to
support Member development.
Fire Authority Members also have a responsibility to commit to undertaking
training and development activities identified which will enable them to fulfil their
roles and responsibilities as Fire Authority Members.

Page 111

3. Key Objectives
The purpose of this strategy is to ensure that all Members are trained and
developed to fulfil their roles on the Fire Authority and ensure that the following
objectives are met:
 Identify and prioritise Members Training and Development Needs
through Personal Development Reviews;
 Review and refresh the Members Personal Development Review
process to ensure that it remains effective for both experienced
Members and new Members;
 Provision of an Annual Member Development Programme that is in
line with priorities identified and within available resources;
 Delivery of a comprehensive and effective Induction process for new
Members;
 Ensure that Members have the opportunity to develop specific skills
in line with particular Member Champion roles; and
 Ensure that there is an emphasis on continuous development and
improvement for Members to align with any changes to the roles and
responsibilities of the Fire Authority.
The following actions will be undertaken to assist in the implementation of the key
objectives in the Strategy:
3.1 Members Personal Development Plans
All Fire Authority Members will complete an annual Personal Development Plan.
This will be carried out within the Personal Development Review process.
Development needs that are identified will be prioritised and key themes that are
identified will be fed into the annual Member Development Programme.
3.2 Review of Members Personal Development Review Process
A review and refresh of the process will be completed to ensure that the process
remains effective for both experienced Members and new Members of the
Authority.
3.3 Delivery of Member Development Programme
Members appointed to the Authority will already undertake Member Development
Programmes within their own local authority. However, as a Member of the
Authority, Members must undertake specific learning and development in
connection with their roles on the Authority.


Member Training and Development Programme – This will be drawn up
based on inputs from several sources. These will include formal learning
needs analysis, Members’ own Personal Development Plans, suggestions

Page 112

from officers/Members, budget and IRMP proposals, new legislation, central
Government and local initiatives, partnership working, and other external
influences. All training and development activities provided for Members will
be consistent with, and support, the Authority’s main priorities. The
programme will be kept under review to ensure that it aligns with any specific
development needs required to support the implementation of any changes
introduced as part of the Fire Reform programme and the introduction of the
new inspection regime for fire.


Members Planning Days – The Authority holds a number of planning days
each year which align with the corporate IRMP planning process to engage
with Members about the future direction of the Service.



Monitoring - Progress against the Strategy will be monitored by the Member
Training and Development Group on a quarterly basis. The group will also
review the Programme annually to ensure that it remains in line with the
Authority’s main priorities. Regular monitoring of the Programme will help to
ensure that the changing needs of Authority Members are reflected in the
Programme. The Member Training and Development Group will also ensure
that activities, when proposed, meet Members’ needs and are scheduled
and delivered appropriately and effectively.

3.4 Delivery of Member Induction Programme
The Authority is committed to ensuring that all new Members are supported when
they join the Authority through an effective induction process.
The induction process will include an induction programme for new Members
which will be supported by the provision of a generic information pack. This
process was implemented in 2011/12 and has proved effective up to this date.
Feedback from new Members who have completed the induction programme has
been very positive and the programme is reviewed and, where necessary, revised
on an annual basis to ensure it remains effective and appropriate.


Members Induction Programme – This consist of a programme of
sessions to provide an overview of Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service and
the Fire Authority. Core modules for new Members such as Health & Safety
and Equality & Diversity will also be included to ensure that new Members
are clear on their roles and responsibilities as Fire Authority Members in
these key areas.



Members Information Pack – This will provide sufficient information for
Members new to fire and rescue responsibilities to begin their role. It will
include key contact details, information on the terms of reference and
constitution for all the Authority’s meetings, calendar of meetings, together
with details of the various forms/declarations which Members are required to
complete.



Buddy System – the officer/Member Buddy system provides an alignment
of elected Members to members of the Service Management Team (SMT),
to provide information and support on a range of Service, policy and
organisational issues. Officer buddies are available to Members for the
purpose of developing their overall knowledge of fire and rescue. Where

Page 113

possible, buddies will provide answers to questions and queries themselves
or after consulting colleagues.
3.5 Role of Member Champions
One of the key outcomes of the delivery of the Member Development Strategy
should be that Members possess the appropriate skills, knowledge and
experience to effectively fulfil their roles and responsibilities.
Members have been appointed to Member Champion roles which have been well
established and valued. It is important that Members who are appointed to these
roles have the opportunity to develop specific skills in line with these roles and
are provided with the support required to maximise their impact within their
individual Member Champion remit. This will be factored into Members individual
Personal Development Reviews.
It is also proposed that a review/refresh of current Member Champion roles is
carried out on an annual basis to ensure that they still support the Authority’s
overarching role in the changing environment in which the Authority operates.
3.6 Continuous Development
Review and Evaluation of Programmes
Member development activities need to meet the requirements of both Members
and the Authority. Constant evaluation and review of the programmes offered
should ensure that these requirements are being met. The Authority needs to
ensure that value for money is obtained and the benefits/impacts for Members,
the Authority and the community can be measured.
There are a number of processes in place to ensure that the programmes offered
are reviewed and evaluated which includes:
 Each Member will be asked to complete an evaluation form in relation to
the training and development that has been undertaken. These forms will
be collated and monitored by Democratic Services and a synopsis of the
feedback will be presented to the Member Training and Development
Group as a regular agenda item. Copies are also provided for relevant
officers to help inform future training and delivery requirements.
 The Personal Development Review process provides Members with the
opportunity to reflect on how the training they have received has impacted
upon them and their performance. Where relevant, comments can be fed
back to the Member Training and Development Group.
 The Member Training and Development group receive quarterly reports on
the delivery of the Member Development Programme and the
implementation of the Member Development Strategy which enables them
to monitor and review progress.
A Member satisfaction survey will also be carried out in 2021 to provide more indepth feedback on the service provided to Authority Members. The results should
inform future development.

Page 114

4. Role of Member Training and Development Group
The Member Training and Development Group is responsible for advising the Fire
Authority on the development, monitoring and evaluation of the Strategy and also
ensuring that the Programme is developed in line with the Strategy.
This cross-party group comprises of four Members and one independent member
and reports directly to the Authority on matters relating to Member training and
development. The Group presents an annual report to the Authority in respect of
Member development activities.

5. Implementation and Review of the Strategy
A report on all appropriate aspects of the Member Development Strategy and
Programme will be presented to and considered by the Member Training and
Development Group on an annual basis. The Group will consider the
effectiveness of all aspects of the implementation of the Member Development
Strategy, its requirements and the need for any modifications. Any revisions
which are required will be made following this review and reported to the Fire
Authority.
An implementation plan for the Strategy has been developed at Appendix 1. The
implementation plan will be monitored by the Member Training and Development
Group.
The Member Development Strategy will be reviewed every two years by the
Member Training and Development Group and will be approved by the Fire
Authority.

6. Outcomes
The successful implementation of the Strategy, should lead to the following key
outcomes being achieved:
 Highly motivated, trained and developed Members;
 Members possessing the appropriate skills, knowledge and experience to
effectively fulfil their roles and responsibilities for the Authority;
 Equality of opportunity in the delivery of training and development.
Outcomes will be measured through the evaluation and monitoring of both the
Strategy and Programme. Members training records and Personal Development
Plans will also assist in evaluating the effectiveness of the Member Development
Strategy.

Page 115

Appendix 1
Member Development – Implementation Plan
The implementation plan will be produced, managed and co-ordinated by the Democratic Services team and will be monitored
quarterly by the Member Training and Development Group.

Key Actions

Responsible Officers

1.

1.1

Complete Annual Personal Development
Reviews and Development Plans for all
Members

Human Resources/
Democratic Services

1.2

Complete an initial Personal Development
Review and check personal development
plans for newly elected Members as part of the
induction programme

Human Resources/
Democratic Services

July –
Aug 20

1.3

Carry out Training Needs Analysis based on
outcomes of PDRs and Members PDPs and
develop a programme for delivery of needs
based on priorities.
Carry out a review of the current PDR process
to ensure that it remains effective for
experienced and new Members.

Human Resources/
Democratic Services

Oct 20

People and Development/
Democratic Services

Ongoing

Develop Annual Member Development
Programme which complements the training
needs identified
Review the annual programme to ensure that it
aligns with any future changes introduced as
part of the national Fire Reform Programme
Produce a quarterly monitoring report on the
delivery of the programme for submission to
the Member Training and Development Group

Democratic Services
Manager/Member Training and
Development Group (MTDG)
Democratic Services Manager
MTDG

June 20

Page 116

Objective

Target
Date
Dec 20 –
Jan 21

2.

3.

Identify and prioritise Members
Training and Development
Needs

Review and refresh the Members
Personal Development Review
process to ensure that it remains
effective for both experienced
Members and new Members
Provision of an Annual
Member Development Programme
that is in line with priorities
identified and within available
resources.

2.1

3.1

3.2

3.2

Democratic Services Manager

Ongoing
2020-21
October
December
March

Target
Date
June 20
June 21

Objective

Key Actions

Responsible Officers

4.

4.1

Provision of Induction Programme for New
Members

Democratic Services Manager

4.2

Provision of Information Pack for New
Members (on appointment to Fire Authority)

Democratic Services Manager

June 20
June 21

4.3

Annually review the Member/Officer Buddy
System to ensure it remains effective

Democratic Services Manager
MTDG

Mar 21

Delivery of a comprehensive and
effective Induction process for
new Members

Member Champions

5.1

Review current roles and maximise
opportunities for Member Champions to
access support networks and development
opportunities in line with their specific remit

Democratic Services Manager
MDTG

Mar 21

6.

Continuous Development

6.1

Produce quarterly monitoring reports in
respect of the Strategy’s implementation plan
for MTDG

Democratic Services Manager

6.2

Present an annual report on Member
Development activities to the Fire Authority

Democratic Services Manager
MTDG

2020-21
Oct
Dec
Mar
Jul 20

6.3

Carry out an annual review of Member
Development Strategy

Democratic Services Manager
MTDG

Mar 21

6.4

Carry out a Member satisfaction survey to
provide more in-depth feedback on the service
provided to Fire Authority Members and inform
future development

Democratic Services/
Communications
MTDG

Mar 21

Page 117

5.

This page is intentionally left blank

